




Core Principles of a
Credit Union

Social Responsibility

Open & Voluntary Membership

Democratic Control

Distribution to Members

Building Financial Stability

Service to members 

Ongoing Education

Non Discrimination

Cooperation among Cooperatives



Vision Statement
Your Life Partner for Financial Services

Mission Statement
To enhance members’ human experience through prudent financial management, 

service excellence and innovative products and services.

Core Values 
Excellence

Service

Integrity

Trust/Openness

Stewardship

Security

People Development



Emerging a New 
Experience

Credit Union Prayer
L  ord, make me an instrument of thy peace

Where there is hatred, let me sow love
Where there is injury, pardon
Where there is doubt, faith
Where there is despair, hope
Where there is darkness, light
And where there is sadness, joy

O! Divine Master
Grant that I may not so much seek

To be consoled as to console
To be understood as to understand
To be loved as to love
For it is in giving that we receive
It is in pardoning that we are pardoned
And it is in dying
That we are born to eternal life
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Notice of Meeting
NOTICE is hereby given that the 70th Annual General Meeting of the CLICO Credit Union Co-operative Society 
Limited will be convened on Tuesday April 16, 2019 at the Radisson Hotel, Festival Ballroom, Wrightson Road, Port of 
Spain, at 5:00p.m. for the following purposes:

1. To receive and confirm Minutes of the 69th Annual General Meeting held on March 28, 2018.
2. To receive and adopt the Reports of the Board of Directors, Statutory Committees, Financial Statements, and  

Auditor’s Report for the year ending December 31, 2018. 
3. To approve Recommendations.
4. To consider Resolutions.
5. To elect Board and Committee members.
6. To transact any other business that may come properly before the meeting.

Agenda
1. Call to Order/Credential Report 
2. National Anthem
3. Invocation/Credit Union Prayer
4. Notice of Meeting
5. President’s Address 
6. Adoption of Standing Orders
7. Confirmation of Minutes – 69th Annual General Meeting
8. Adoption of Reports

 Board of Directors
 Supervisory Committee
 Credit Committee 

9. Presentation of Audited Accounts for 2018
10. Recommendations & Resolutions
11. Nominations Committee Report 
12. Second Credential Report
13. Election of Officers: Board of Directors; Supervisory Committee and Credit Committee
14. Closure

By Order of the Board of Directors

__________________
Alisha Mahabirsingh
Secretary
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Standing Orders
1. A member shall stand and identify himself/herself when addressing the Chair.

2. Speeches to be clear and relevant to the subject before the meeting.

3. No member shall address the meeting except through the Chairman and only when called upon to do so.

4. A member may not speak twice on the same subject except:
a. The Mover of a Motion – who has the right to reply.
b. He rises to object or to explain (with permission of the Chair).
c. A member’s contribution should not exceed three (3) minutes. 

5. No speeches shall be made after a subject has been put, or carried or rejected.

6. A member rising on a “Point of Order” must state to the point clearly and concisely. A “Point of Order” must have 
relevance to the “Standing Orders”.

7. A member shall not call another member “To Order” but may draw the attention of the Chair to the “Breach of 
Order”.

8. Only one amendment shall be before the meeting at one and the same time.

9. When a motion is withdrawn, any amendment to it fails.

10. The Chairman is to have the right to a “casting vote”.

11. If there is equality of voting on an amendment, and if the Chairman does not exercise his casting vote, the amend-
ment is lost.

12. Provision shall be made for protection of the Chairman from vilification (personal abuse).

13. No member shall impute improper motives against another member. 
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Election Process 
The Returning Officer will:

1. Declare Registration closed and announce a credential report. Advise that no registration will take place during
 the voting process from now on. 

2. Introduce the Election Supervisors and their Assistants.

3. Start the distribution of the ballots.

4. Explain the voting process
a. A ballot sheet containing all nominees in the various categories of Board, Supervisory & Credit
 Committees will be issued to each member.
b. Pay close attention to the instruction at the top of ballot sheet “Shade the appropriate circles fully with  
 the black ink pen provided and make no other mark on the sheet”.
c. For Board of Directors you are to select 3 nominees, for Supervisory Committee you are to select 3  
 nominees and for Credit Committee you are to select 5 nominees.
d. If for some reason your ballot is spoilt, you are to report and hand it in to one of the assistants so that a  
 new ballot can be issued to you. 
e. The ballots are not to be folded.  

5. Introduce the categories for the election: Board of Directors, Supervisory Committee and Credit Committee.

6. Declare the positions vacant.

7. Announcement of the outgoing officers:
Board of Directors: Darin Hunte, Henry Hamlett and Giselle La Ronde-West. 
Supervisory Committee: Darlene Chapman, Jean-Marc Griffith and Ako Bridgeman.
Credit Committee: Abena St Louis, Nadine Carrington, Carmen Iles, Sean Alleyne and Rachel Hope.    

8. Introduce the nominees, by name and category.

9. Declare the voting process open.

10. Invite Officer from the Co-operative Division and Auditor from PKF to oversee the count.

11. Declare the voting closed.

12. Announce the results of the election 

13. Call for the destruction of electronic and physical ballots. 
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Darin Hunte
President

Carolyn John
Vice President

Natasha Johnson 
Treasurer

Andrew A. Bates 
Assistant Secretary

Alisha Mahabirsingh 
Secretary

Board of
Directors
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Giselle La Ronde-West 
Director

Gerard Barnes  
Director

Caroline Lewis  
Director

Major General Rodney Smart  
Director

Henry Hamlett  
Director
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Supervisory Committee

Credit Committee

Darlene Chapman 
Chairperson

Abena St Louis
Chairperson

Nadine Carrington 
Secretary

Sean Alleyne
Member

Rachel Hope
Member

Carmen Iles 
Member

Jean-Marc Griffith 
Member

Ako Bridgeman 
Secretary
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CCU Management
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CCU Staff
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W elcome CCU family and 
I say family because 

that is how we operate. We are a 
financial cooperative. We pool our 
resources together to benefit and 
help each other; just like a family. 
In 2017, CLICO Credit Union 
continued to dream and continued 
to thrive and, perhaps more 
importantly, took the first steps to 
making those dreams reality. Years 
ago one of our past presidents 
dreamed of CCU becoming a full 
service credit union that looked 
like, and smelled, like a bank. 
What he envisioned then was 
a credit union that offered the 
services, efficiencies, and stability 
of a bank but within the framework 
and structure of a credit union. 
Our 2017 strategic plan proposed 
that such a structure is worthy 
of pursuit, and will direct our 
activities in the years ahead. Our 
dreams are becoming reality. 

Our evolution and deployment 
of our core processing system 
continued in 2017 as we provided 
laptops with internet access to our 
Credit Committee that facilitated 
loan approval via remote access. 
The World Council of Credit 
Union’s PEARLS ratios were 
added to the system and can now 
be generated at the click of a 
button, providing insight into the 
key financial metrics expected of 
profitable and successful credit 
unions. We have entered into a 
joint venture with Stratis, our IT 

consultants, to resell Sharetec 
throughout the Caribbean. To this 
end, we have already achieved two 
sales in Trinidad and are on the 
doorstep of a third in St. Vincent. 
Marketing activities are also 
taking place 
in Guyana, 
Grenada, and 
Jamaica. We 
envision that 
this venture will 
blossom into 
a full service 
IT provider 
for the credit union sector in the 
Caribbean.

In 2017, Pannel Kerr Forster 
completed an audit into our 
compliance with Anti-Money 
Laundering/Financing of Terrorism 
legislation and guidelines, and I am 
happy to report that we received 
no red flags. We continue to work 
and have harmonious relationships 
with all relevant regulatory 
bodies to ensure that your credit 
union remains compliant with all 
applicable laws and regulations. 
Internally, we updated our loan 
policy, introduced an investment 
policy, and put in place charters 
for all our committees. We propose 
to continue to strengthen our 
policies and procedures wherever 
and whenever necessary, to ensure 
that good governance becomes 
engrained into the culture of CCU. 

In 2017, we launched our Debit 

card providing members with 
ATM card access both locally and 
internationally. Our maximum loan 
amount was increased to $650,000, 
and we partnered with the Trinidad 
& Tobago Building and Loan 

Association (TBLA) to 
offer mortgage loans 
to members.  We have 
also purchased a villa 
at Tobago Plantations 
which we will offer 
for rental to members, 
with bookings 
beginning today. This 

measure will provide us with 
both local and foreign vacation 
alternatives. 

This past year was a successful one 
for your credit union. 
Our 2017 Annual Report indicates 
a $30m increase in Total Assets an 
increase of 10% over 2016. Total 
assets now stand at $328m. Loans 
to members increased by 13% 
moving from $233m in 2016 to 
$264m in 2017. Members Shares 
increased by 7% while Total 
Income increased by 12% over 
2016. Our Return on Assets stood 
at 6.2%, above the recommended 
international standard of 5% . The 
Delinquency rate ended the year 
at 5.47% just a fraction above the 
international standard of 5%.

In the area of delinquency, we 
took a more aggressive stance as a 
credit union in 2017 and initiated 
legal action against four delinquent 

President’s Address



11

CLICO Credit Union  Annual Report 2018

members. One member settled 
before a court appearance and 
repaid his loan in full. Judgement 
was granted against another 
member, and the remaining two 
matters are still in progress. As we 
discuss the matter of Delinquency 
let me take this opportunity to 
speak a bit on IFRS9 and its 
projected impact on Delinquency 
provisioning. The Global Risk 
Institute states as follows “loan 
loss provisions (i.e. the income 
statement charge) and its volatility 
could increase significantly, as they 
will respond much more directly 
to changes in credit risk trends 
(as indicated by a combination of 
credit models, loan ratings/other 
characteristics, economic trends 
and stress testing analysis – and 
thereby introducing significant 
judgement into the process). A 
recent survey carried out by the 
European Central Bank reported 
that loan loss provisions (i.e. 

the charge that goes through the 
income statement) could increase 
in a range from 18%-30%. KPMG 
has reported that “credit losses are 
expected to increase and become 
more volatile under the new 
expected credit loss model.”

This information is not intended to 
frighten you but rather to make you 
aware of the significant changes 
taking place in the industry and 
the potential impact on your 
organization. Equally important, it 
should reassure you that your team 
is already making the necessary 
adjustments required and keeping 
you abreast of the expected impact.

What does this all mean? It means 
that as a credit union, CCU must 
become as lean and efficient as 
possible, making every dollar 
work for us. It also means greater 
scrutiny of you, the member, 
greater operational complexity, 

and increased pressure on rates of 
return. 

Before closing, I would like to 
thank my fellow board members, 
the management team and all of 
our staff who continue to provide 
good service and operate with 
professionalism. Their effort and 
commitment have ensured the 
continued growth and development 
of our organization. 

Finally, I would also like to thank 
you, our members, for your 
continuing support. As we continue 
to dream and make those dreams 
reality, we dedicate ourselves to 
working with you to strengthen 
our credit union and helping you 
realize your dreams because at 
CCU, dreams thrive here.

I thank you. 

____________
Darin Hunte
President

Darin Hunte
President
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Minutes of the 69th Annual General Meeting
of the CLICO Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited

held on Wednesday 28th March 2018 
at the Radisson Hotel, Festival Ball Room, Wrightson Road, Port of Spain

1. CALL TO ORDER/CREDENTIAL REPORT
1.1 The 69th Annual General Meeting of CLICO Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited was
 convened at 5:15pm with the National Anthem followed by the Invocation and Credit Union
 Prayer said by Reverend Ann Marie Jack. 
 

2. NOTICE OF MEETING
2.1 Notice of the meeting was read by the Secretary to the Board, Alisha Mahabirsingh who then
 handed the meeting over to the President of the Credit Union and Chairman for the afternoon’s
 proceedings – Mr. Darin Hunte. 

3. FIRST CREDENTIAL REPORT 
3.1 The first Credential Report was announced by the Chairman. He reported a total of 205
 members present. This satisfied the quorum of fifty (50) members required for the commencement of
 the AGM.

4. PRESIDENT’S ADDRESS 
4.1 The Chairman officially welcomed and thanked members and guests for their attendance. After
 delivery of the feature address, he conducted the proceedings for the meeting. 

       ADOPTION OF STANDING ORDERS
4.2 The Standing Orders were adopted on a motion moved by Leslie St Louis, seconded by
 Millicent Waldropt-Stoute, then unanimously carried.

5. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES: 68th AGM 
5.1 There were no corrections to the minutes.    
5.2 There were no matters arising from the minutes. 

5.3 The minutes of the 68th Annual General Meeting were confirmed without amendment, on a
 motion moved by Ricaldo Gomes, seconded by Fred Vidale, then unanimously carried.
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6. ADOPTION OF REPORTS 
Board of Directors

6.1 The report of the Board of Directors was presented to the membership by the Chairman.

6.2 There were no queries or comments.

6.3 A motion for its adoption was moved by Alma Thompson, seconded by Pamela Clemas Chase then,
 unanimously carried.    

Supervisory Committee
6.4 The report of the Supervisory Committee was presented to the membership by Chairperson of the
 Committee, Andrew Case.

6.5 One correction was noted. Ms. Paula Trail was the first Alternate and Jean-Marc Griffith was the 2nd
 Alternate.       

6.6 A motion for its adoption was moved by Gerald Jacobs, seconded by Major General Rodney Smart
 then, unanimously carried.

Credit Committee
6.7 The report of the Credit Committee was presented to the membership by Chairperson of the
 Committee, Abena St Louis. 

6.8 Leslie St Louis raised a concern over the ageing of the delinquency portfolio. The Chairman advised
 that the matter would be addressed when discussing the financials. 

6.9 A motion for its adoption was moved by Patrice Cooper, seconded by Bruce James then, unanimously
 carried. 
 

7. PRESENTATION OF THE AUDITED ACCOUNTS FOR 2017  

The Auditors’ Report 

7.1 Mr. Augustine Clarke, a representative from the audit firm of PKF Chartered Accountants and Business
 Advisors (Trinidad) was invited by the  Chairman to present the Auditor’s Report for the period
 January 01, 2017 to December 31, 2017. Mr. Clarke read the first two paragraphs of the report which
 contained the PKF’s audit opinion.     

7.2 There were no queries or comments on the Auditor’s Report. 

7.3 A motion for its adoption was moved by Claudette Jordon-John, seconded by Umila Williams
 then, unanimously carried.  
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Financial Statements  

7.4 The Financial Statement of CLICO Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited for the year ending
 December 31, 2017 was presented to the membership by the Treasurer Natasha Johnson. 

- The Treasurer presented the report noting the credit union has seen growth despite the economy. 
An overview of the 2017 financials:

• Total assets increased from $297m in 2016 to $327m in 2017
• The loan portfolio increased from $232m in 2016 to $263m in 2017
• Deposits increased from $19.22m in 2016 to $21.92m in 2017
• Share capital increased from $240m in 2016 to $257m in 2017
• Total Income increased from $32.8m in 2016 to $36.8m in 2017

- Further highlights were provided on:  
• Loan loss provisioning  
• Investments 
• Fixed assets 
• Cred U Med plan 
• Income 
• Expenditure

7.5 Members Questions 
7.5.1 Leslie St Louis:

• Expressed concern over the high decrease in the credit union’s building valuation over the last two 
years from $12m to $10m. He recommended that the credit union seek valuation from another 
valuator. 

• Indicated that he appreciated the Board’s view to diversify the income stream of the credit union 
by purchasing a luxury investment property in Tobago. However, he is concerned about making 
such an investment with the current economic situation in addition to the transportation issues 
between Trinidad and Tobago. He questioned whether the investment was lucrative and whether 
G.A. Farrell will have a negative valuation in the next year. 

• With reference to the $6m investment in Flavorite Foods Limited (FFL) he expressed that he 
thought the company had been delisted from the stock exchange and inquired what was the 
intended income stream from the entity.      

• He questioned whether the average interest of 12% per annum was a competitive rate,  whether 
members are being penalized for being thrifty and paying off debts early and the cost of loan 
processing fees. He stated that these must be reviewed to make it easier for members to borrow.

7.5.2 Treasure’s Response:
• The credit union will be vigilant in monitoring all costs being expended and will explore 

other options for valuations. The FFL dividend stream according to the agreement made is an 
approximate 4%.
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7.5.3 Lucian Elder:
• Indicated that he had questions concerning the FFL investment but they were answered.  
• Indicated that water rates and payments appeared twice on page 66.
• Indicated there were travelling and parking error in figures.

7.5.4 Treasurer’s Response:
• The errata sheet addressed the errors

7.5.5 The President explained further that the Tobago investment was done to provide an option to members
 who could not afford cruises noting that the cruises have also reduced due to the economic situation.
 He added that he is confident the investment would be successful.

7.5.6 Vice President C. John explained the FFL investment: The credit union entered into an agreement to
 purchase $6m worth of shares in FFL but there is an exit clause in that agreement if the shares didn’t
 perform. She said it is no secret that Flavorite products are not on the market as the company has
 been facing significant challenges to get foreign exchange to keep the plant operational. The
 investment was a purchase and a buy back arrangement and it hasn’t worked out the way it ought
 to have, therefore, the exit clause could be exercised.  At the time the credit union undertook the
 agreement foreign exchange had been promised and the super markets were supposed to be stocked by
 the third quarter of 2017. FFL did get product out but since then they have not been able to replenish
 because the plant has not been operational. So the credit union  will exercise the exit clause. She
 added that there is another proposal on the table that had not yet been looked at it in terms of getting
 out of that investment but the credit union will be exiting.  

7.5.7 The President addressed Mr. St. Louis’ question on the delinquency noting that the percentage is
 attributed to both old and new loans and the $14m is based on delinquent loans above 90 days.

7.5.8 A motion for its adoption was moved by Rolfe Moyou, seconded by Lucian Elder then, unanimously
 carried.

8. PRESENTATION OF BUDGET   

8.1 The Treasurer, N. Johnson presented the 2017 budget, noting that an errata sheet correcting the surplus
 was attached and shows that the credit union is expecting a surplus of 14m for 2018.  

8.2 There were questions or comments on the budget.

8.3 A motion for its adoption was moved by Cindy Emamdie, seconded by Lesha Garraway then
 unanimously carried.

8.4 The President thanked the Treasurer for the budget presentation. 
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9. RECOMMENDATIONS & RESOLUTIONS 
The following recommendations were presented by President Hunte. 
9.1 Dividend

• The Board of Directors recommended to the Annual General Meeting that a dividend at the rate 
of 5% is declared for the year 2017 and that such sums are credited to the Members’ accounts as 
requested by them. 

• It is recommended that if a member is delinquent at the time of dividend payment his/her entire 
dividend be placed on his/her loan account.

• A motion for its adoption was moved by Maj. Gen. Rodney Smart, seconded by Darlene Chapman 
then unanimously carried.

9.2 Appointment of Auditors 
• It is recommended that the firm of PKF Chartered Accountants and Business Advisors (Trinidad) 

be retained as external Auditors of the Society for the year ending 31st December 2018.

• A motion for its adoption was moved by Ann Marie Kangalee, seconded by Alma  Thompson then 
unanimously carried.

9.3 Honoraria
• It is recommended that an Honorarium be set at a percentage not exceeding 3% of the surplus after 

statutory deductions for payment to the Board of Directors and Committee Members for the year 
ending December 31st 2018. 

• It is also recommended that Honoraria form part of a personal loan to members of Committees 
who do not attend Training Programmes for which costs have been incurred. 

• A motion for its adoption was moved by Ricaldo Gomes, seconded by Jeanelle George then 
unanimously carried.

9.4        Borrowing Power
• Whereas it is necessary to borrow from time to time to meet the financial obligations of the 

Society, the Directors recommend that the Maximum Liability of the Credit Union, in respect of 
loans, be maintained at Fifty Five Million dollars ($55 million) in accordance with the Regulations 
of the Co-operative Society Limited and the Bye Laws of the Credit Union.

• A motion for its adoption was moved by Peter Charles, seconded by Rolfe Moyou then 
unanimously carried.

10. PRESENTATION OF THE NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT

10.1  The Nominations Committee Report was presented by Chairman of the Committee, Henry Hamlett.

10.2 There were no queries or comments on the Report. 

10.3 A motion for the adoption of the Report was moved by Sharon Clarke seconded by Fitzroy Jackman
 then unanimously carried. 
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11. SECOND CREDENTIAL REPORT 

11.1 The second Credential Report reported that 263 members were in attendance.

12. ELECTIONS

12.1 The Returning Officer Ricaldo Gomes was invited to take the meeting through the election process
 for Board of Directors, Supervisory Committee and Credit Committee.

12.2 The Returning Officer indicated that at this time the attendance/registration process will be closed
 order to facilitate the election process. 

12.3 The Returning Officer explained to the membership the rules for the election process reminding them
 of the electronic system implemented for the counting of the votes. 

12.4 The seats were declared vacant and members were then invited to cast their ballots.

12.5 The following persons were elected to serve on the Board of Directors and Statutory Committees for
 the 2018/2021 and 2018/2019 terms respectively. 

Board of Directors
Gerard Barnes       141
Major General Rodney Smart      135
Carolyn John       127

Colleen Holder    (First Alternate)   111
Sammy Creece    (Second Alternate)  86

Supervisory Committee 
Darlene Chapman      184
Jean-Marc Griffith      126
Ako Bridgeman      110

Marcia Ann Stewart  (First Alternate)     98
Paula Trail   (Second Alternate)  88

Credit Committee
Abena St Louis       212
Nadine Carrington       172
Rachel Hope       172
Carmen Iles       165
Sean Alleyne       149

Cindy Emamdie   (First Alternate)   137
Jesenia Glasgow-Burnett (Second Alternate)  129

12.5.1 A motion for the destruction of the physical ballots and electronic file was moved by Fitzroy Jackman,
 seconded by Brittany Gonzales then unanimously carried.   
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13. OTHER BUSINESS 

 Special Presentations announced by Learie Parris (CEO) 

13.1 Special Presentation was made to Acting Commissioner of Co-operative Charmaine Mc Millan as
 a first-time attendee to CLICO Credit Union AGM. 

13.2 Special Presentation was made to Alma Thompson for her service to the Credit Union over the past
 year. 

13.2.1 Special Presentation of certificates to CaribDE graduates: Gerlyn Moore-Hodges; Jon Seepersad;
 Dinelle Cipraini-Daisy; Kayome Felix; Nicole Mc Nicol;  Rayanne Antoine; Colliss Holder-Craig.
 Mr. Parris explained that the credit union is a 72 year old organization and the credit union movement’s
 core business, philosophy and learning are beginning to disappear and in order to preserve the credit
 union ethos we have to invest in the staff so that they can learn. 

13.2.2 Mr. Parris advised that members expressed that the tokens have become exhaustive and so the decision
 was taken to credit the share account of each member present with TT$100.00.

13.2.3 Mr. Parris mentioned that one of the key areas of credit union’s strategic focus is growth in
 membership. He challenged each member present to recommend two persons who are worthy of
 becoming members. 

13.2.4 Member Rolfe Moyou asked for confirmation on the payment of $5,000.00 to beneficiaries and
 commented that while the President spoke on banking he asked that the credit union principle where
 people come first is kept. Mr. Parris explained that the amount of $5,000.00 is a stipulation of the Law
 and indicated that the pending new legislation has increased the amount. He clarified that the credit
 union does not wish to become a bank but offer all the services that are offered by a bank. 

Closing Remarks 

13.3 The President thanked everyone for their attendance and participation and expressed special thanks to
 Mr. St. Loius noting the importance of having pertinent matters raised. In closing the meeting he
 wished all a safe journey home. 

13.3     There being no other business, the meeting ended at 7:30pm.

Respectfully submitted
 

_________________
Alisha Mahabirsingh
Secretary - Board of Directors
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Board of Directors’
Report for Fiscal Year 2018

In 2018, your Board continued its journey of business transformation with the Credit Union focusing on service 
consistency under the theme “People, Purpose, Progress, Passion”. This process optimizes the use of digitalized 
applications to drive operational excellence, revenue growth, and ensuring a fair return to Shareholders.
A member care charter was established, and its full implementation is expected in the second quarter of 2019.

PEOPLE
Flood Relief & Support 

Rainfall on October 19th 2018 caused areas in Trinidad that never experienced flooding to be devastated by flood 
waters, and several CCU Members lost all their possessions in the flooding. CCU made contact with these Members 
and, subsequently, a team of CCU employees visited Greenvale, La Horquetta to distribute cleaning items to affected 
Members. Support continued in December with the distribution of Grocery Gift Cards and the initiation of a Disaster 
Relief Fund.

Staff Training

With the assistance of DRA Consulting, the employees of CCU were introduced to several Team Building Exercises 
designed to improve internal and external communication skills. This training facilitated the creation and adoption of a 
CCU Service Language that seeks to enhance employee interactions amongst themselves and with members.

Staff Excellence

One of our members of staff, Ms. Alisha Mahabirsingh, gained certification as an International Credit Union 
Development Educator (I-CUDE) by the World Council of Credit Unions. We congratulate Ms. Alisha Mahabirsingh on 
this achievement! 
Six other members of staff also completed Developmental Educator programs during 2018.  Well done!

Trinidad & Tobago Defence Force Partnership 

Our 40 year Partnership with the Trinidad & Tobago Defence Force was celebrated on May 19th 2018 with an Award 
Ceremony that, in the words of CDS Rear Admiral Pritchard, was itself an achievement by the number of high-ranking 
Officers past and present in attendance. A true testament to the strong relationship shared by the two organizations 
that began in 1978, when then CLICO Superintendent of Agencies, Mr. Andre Renie, along with Sales Executives Mr. 
Andrew Bates, Jemmot Manmohan and the late Russell Tesheira, introduced CCU to the Trinidad & Tobago Defence 
Force.

PURPOSE
Strategic Plan 2018-22 – Redefining our Purpose

A five (5) member strategic planning committee was established to operationalize our strategic plan based upon 
a Community Banking Model. The overarching goal of this plan is to transform CCU into a credit union offering 
Community Banking services with an asset base of one (1) billion dollars within ten (10) years. The key developmental 
pillars are: Learning; Innovation; Rebranding; Member Loyalty; Operational Excellence. The plan redefines the Credit 
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Union’s purpose as that of providing Community Banking Services focused on Wealth Creation and Financial Services 
that promote prosperity and a superior quality of life for Members.

The presentation of the full plan to you, our Membership, will be at a Special General Meeting scheduled for later in 
2019.

PROGRESS
IFRS 9 – Progress

At its first meeting in April 2018, the Board mandated Management to develop a model to address the requirements of 
this financial reporting standard. We are pleased to report that this model was deemed 80% complete and accepted by our 
current external Auditors. The Board wishes to thank our Finance and IT Consultants together with our Staff for the work 
done thus far on this project.

CCU/TBLA Mortgage Partnership 

In recognition of the need of Members for housing, CCU partnered with TBLA in November 2018 to offer Mortgage 
loans to our Members at competitive rates. TBLA has over 100 years of experience offering Mortgages to the citizens of 
Trinidad & Tobago and it is our belief that this partnership will ensure that Members’ dreams of owning a home become 
reality.

Staycations

In 2017, your credit union purchased a Villa in Tobago Plantations to be used as a staycation location for our Members, 
their families and friends. A Name the Villa Competition was launched for members of Staff, and Colliss Holder-Craig 
emerged winner of the competition, naming the Villa – “La Coterie Villa” (or The Community Villa) an ode to the fact 
that as a Credit Union we are a community of people (shared interests and strengths).  La Coterie is a 3 bedroom 3 ½ 
bath townhouse nestled in the middle of the Tobago Plantations compound it boasts a private dipping pool, sprawling 
living room, dining room and kitchen that caters to the needs of the entire family. There is also a community pool on the 
compound.

PASSION
The passion that CCU has for our membership was demonstrated in the following initiatives:-

Recycling Initiative 

Our recycling initiative which was birthed in 2017 continued with increased vigor in 2018. CCU has installed recycling 
bins at the office to accept Plastics, Bottles and Paper items for recycling. Nicola Corbie of the Administrative 
Department has been taking the lead ensuring that the items collected are placed in the bins and properly recycled.

CCU Caravan 

CCU launched a Caravan that takes our services to the men and women of the Trinidad & Tobago Defence Force.  The 
different financial options available to the members of the TTDF inclusive of our Mortgage, Financial Counselling 
and Legal Services are offered when we make visits. During 2018 over 300 TTDF Members visited our caravans and 
accessed its services.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Total Assets

Total Assets increased by 8.6% over 2017, the main
contributors being Cash & Cash Equivalents ($16.5M) 
and the Loan Portfolio ($18.3M). Notwithstanding the
overall increase, there was a 3% decline in the investment 
portfolio due to an impairment adjustment   
to the shareholding in Flavorite Ltd as a result of 
International Accounting Standard IFRS 9.

Year Total Assets $m
2014 251.22
2015 277.66
2016 297.89
2017 327.89
2018 356.17

Loans to members

Gross loans in 2018 grew from $277.9M to $301.4M,
an 8.5% increase. However, the net loans increase being 
only 6.9% was adversely impacted by the additional loan 
loss provision requirement of International Accounting 
Standard IFRS 9.

Year Loan Portfolio $m
2014 175.05
2015 207.03
2016 232.67
2017 263.74
2018 282.03

Members’ Shares

Members’ net shareholdings increased by 8.6% from 
$257.8M to $280.0M. Gross shareholdings received in 2018 
represented 87% 2017 gross share receipts, whilst share 
withdrawals were $14M less than the previous period’s 
experience.

Year Members’ Shares        
$m

2014 196.97
2015 216.88
2016 240.04
2017 257.84
2018 280.05

Members’ Deposits

Members’ deposits grew by 19.5% in comparison to 2017 
given our favourable rates in comparison to others within 
the industry. 

Year Deposit $m
2014 15.45
2015 15.75
2016 19.22
2017 21.92
2018 26.19

Total Income

Total income increased by 11% as all categories of income
significantly contributed to this experience.

Year Total Income $m
2014 27.92
2015 0.33
2016 32.88
2017 36.78
2018 40.85
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Expenditure

The increase in Expenditure is attributed to provisioning for 
expected credit loss and investment impairment as a result 
of IFRS9.

Year Total Expenditure $m
2014 11.28
2015 12.99
2016 20.60
2017 16.25
2018 26.87

MEETING ATTENDANCE

For the period April 2018, to February 2018, a total of 13 meetings were held with attendance as follows.

Name No. Meetings 
Attended

No. Meetings 
Excused

Darin Hunte 13 0
Carolyn John 6 7

Natasha Johnson 12 1
Andrew Bates 12 1

Giselle La Ronde-West 8 5
Gerard Barnes 9 4
Henry Hamlett 11 2
Caroline Lewis 11 2

Major General Rodney Smart 10 3

CONCLUSION

The Management and Staff continues to work diligently on your behalf and must be commended for their work that 
resulted in another successful year for the credit union. Special thanks as well to the members of various committees 
who continue to give of their time to serve the credit union.  Finally, without you, our members, we would have no credit 
union, so a special thanks to each and every one of you for believing in and supporting your credit union as we continue 
to work to enhance your well-being.

_____________
Darin Hunte
President
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Supervisory
Committee Report 2018

Our 69th Annual General Meeting was held on 28th March 2018. Elected to serve on the Supervisory Committee were 
Darlene Chapman, Jean- Marc Griffith and Ako Bridgeman with Paula Trial and Marcia Ann Stewart as the alternates. 

 At the first meeting of this committee, the following persons were selected for the respective posts:

Darlene Chapman (Chairperson) Ako Bridgeman (Member)

Jean- Marc Griffith (Secretary)

With the co-operation on the credit union staff and management and we were able to conduct meetings and review the 
reports of the Credit union by examining the financial and operational affairs of the CLICO Credit Union Co-operative 
society Limited. 

The Supervisory Committee carried out its duties in compliance with the Co-operative Societies Act and the Credit 
Union Bye Laws.

The Areas which were scrutinized included:

• Members accounts and Dormant accounts and closed accounts were reviewed. Reviews were made 
through random sampling of open and closed accounts and death claims, to ensure that the CCU 
database for those accounts were updated and accurate.

• Management and Operational Expenses were verified to ensure transactions were solely for the 
operations of the credit union.

• Loan applications were reviewed via random sampling to confirm that only valid loans were recorded 
in the Credit Union’s records and that the documents submitted by the members and all criteria 
followed was in accordance with the lending policy.

• Bank reconciliations were verified to ensure that the amount recorded on the sub ledger was the correct 
amount as per bank statement and to ensure timely preparation of the bank reconciliation.

• Delinquency by members was also reviewed and we noted that the credit union continues to ensure a 
good standard is practiced when granting loans to minimize delinquency and in recovering borrowed 
funds. 

The Examination and Attestation of Monthly Financial Statements:

The financial statements of the CLICO Credit Union Co- Operative Society have been reviewed by our Committee and 
in our opinion bear a true and accurate picture of the Credit Unions Financial Standings for the period 2018.
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Recommendations

The Supervisory Committee encourages the membership to partake in the various activities offered by the credit union as 
this will be of benefit to the members.
As CLICO Credit Union continues to strive to meet the membership needs, it is important that the membership provide 
proper documentation in a timely manner when applying for loans, whether in person, or via the CCU online service to 
minimize any unnecessary delays in processing times.

We the members the Supervisory Committee take this opportunity to assure the membership that their Credit Union is 
working in its capacity to meet their needs.

We would sincerely thank all who participated and contributed to the effectiveness of our role and for selecting us as 
your Supervisory Committee.

We appreciate the opportunity to have served you the membership of the CLICO Credit Union for the Financial year 
2018. 

Respectfully,

________________      _______________
Darlene B Chapman      Jean-Marc Griffith
Chairperson        Secretary
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Product # Loans
2018

# Loans 
2017

% 
Change

Loan Value
2018

Loan Value
2017

% Incr/ 
Decr

Share 2,911 2,528 15% $82,674,140.57 $91,751,587.64 -10%

Vehicle 36 63 -43% $7,469,735.14 $13,176,165.20 -43%

D/ Consol 44 63 -30% $9,763,725.09 $16,240,851.25 -40%

C.A.SH. 133 93 43% $1,904,559.33 $1,199,328.75 59%

Y.P.E.P. 6 9 -33% $1,312,404.61 $1,458,948.21 -10%

Other 755 715 6% $19,234,848.43 $9,544,476.11 102%

TOTAL 3,885 3,471 12% $122,359,413.17 $133,371,357.16 -8%

Credit
Committee Report 2018

Introduction: 

The Credit Committee welcomes the opportunity to report to the membership for the year under review and would also 
like to express its appreciation, for the privilege granted to serve during such time.

The elected members met on Friday 6th April, 2018, following the AGM to elect a Chairperson and Secretary from 
among those selected. The Committee elected is as follows:

Ms. Abena St. Louis (Chairperson) Mr. Sean Alleyne (Member)
Ms. Nadine Carrington (Secretary) Ms. Cindy Emamdie (Alternate)
Ms. Rachel Hope (Member)  Mrs. Jesenia Glasgow-Burnett (Alternate) 
Ms. Carmen Iles (Member)

The Credit Committee’s mandate as outlined in the CLICO Credit Union Bye-Laws No. 39 is to prudently manage the 
loans portfolio, which is the primary generator of this Organization’s revenue. I am pleased to report that because of the 
commitment to excellence and the strength and fortitude of each Committee member, we were able to fulfill this role 
with a sense of equity in addressing the financial needs of our members.

Loan Administration:

The table which follows provides a Year on Year comparison of the approved loans portfolio for the last two years, 2017 
to 2018. It also highlights the variance in volume and value for the respective loan categories.
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For the period January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018, the loan applications approved by the committee and loan officers 
were 3885 representing an increase of (12%) over 2017 total of 3471 applications.  However, the total loan value was 
$122,359,413.17 which represents a decrease of (8%) from 2017 value of $133,371,357.16

In 2018, the Hat Trick loan was introduced which contributed significantly to the incremental increase of (102%) with 
a loan value of $19,234,848.43, when compared to 2017 value of $9,544,476.11.  This loan falls under the category 
“OTHER” which also represents loans such as EASY 35K, Seasonal Loans and Premium Finance Loans.

Recommendations:

Members are encouraged to make use of the SHARETEC (online) system and continue to utilize the Credit Union as 
their first choice for financial assistance.  Members who are also experiencing challenges with meeting their financial 
commitment to the Credit Union, can visit our Head Office to discuss a way forward.

Acknowledgements:

The Committee wishes to thank the Almighty Creator for the prudence and wisdom to perform our duties fairly and 
efficiently during our period in office.  We wish to express our gratitude to the Board of Directors, Chief Executive 
Officer, Supervisory Committee, Fellow Committee Members, Management and Staff of the Credit Union for skillfully 
steering the Credit Union through this challenging economic period.

We thank all our members for giving us another opportunity to serve and would greatly appreciate you continued 
support.

Submitted,

___________________     _____________________
Abena St. Louis (Ms.)     Nadine Carrington (Ms.)
Chairperson       Secretary
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Education
Committee Report 2018

Committee Members: 

Giselle La Ronde-West (Chairperson)  Colliss Holder-Craig (Secretary)
Lisa Charles     Andor Best
Makini Cuffie    Jeanelle George

Member financial health, physical health, debt eradication/awareness and other holistic activities formed the Education 
Committee’s primary focus for 2018.  
As we ended 2017 with a video series on Managing Stress through Recessionary Times, we began 2018 with a Bomb, a 
Carnival Bomb… 

Carnival Healthy Spending

2018 began with a Bomb…A Carnival Bomb where we shared information on spending habits for the Carnival Season.  
Tips on how to save and spend wisely for Carnival were artfully crafted into a video that was viewed on our social media 
platforms and on the Lobby Screen.  Members were encouraged to make wise choices when spending for the carnival 
season.

CCU’s Men’s Club

CCU launched its Men’s Club at the Hyatt Regency hotel’s San Fernando Room on Saturday 24th February 2018.
The intention of the Men’s Club was to bring our male members together to discuss men’s issues in an environment 
where they felt comfortable to speak freely and openly share their views and opinions.

The objective of the Club is to ensure that our male Members are prepared for some of the challenges that they face, 
which they are not always willing to acknowledge or deal with such as:

1. Aging
2. Health Concerns

Our anticipation is that the conversation continues among CCU men rendering them healthy and strong in the years 
ahead.

Money Matters and Personal Budgeting Seminar

Marcus Girdharie facilitated this workshop where Members were given a crash course on the advantages of proper 
budgeting and preparing a budget.

Feedback from one of the participants

“I wish to express my thanks and appreciation for the Seminar...  A lot of what was said, I do practice but there 
were areas that further light was shed on, that I will have to address. 
The Presenter was very engaging and using his testimonies to drive valid points home, was well received.
Thanks for the continued edification for us the Credit Union Members.”
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Children’s Financial Camp

The Education Committee planned a five (5) day camp during the August vacation to assist some our Credit Union 
children with understanding the concept of money management.

The camp was geared towards children aged 10 through 13 years. It was felt that this was the most impressionable age 
group, as it included SEA graduates and Standard 4 children making the transition to the SEA class.

We partnered with NALIS (National Library, Port of Spain) and Kwesi Charles (CCU Member), via his company 
Funnables Entertainment Limited to facilitate the Camp.  He used board and computer games to teach the children on 
budgeting and saving, which was a very engaging way of presenting the subject.

A field trip to The House of Angostura culminated the week of camp activities

The topics covered at the camp included: -

• Budgeting & Saving
• Creativity & Innovation
• The Entrepreneur in Me
• Coping with anxiety – facilitated by Families In Action
• Tips to Transitioning (to a different class/school)
• Bullying (what to expect, how to respond)
• Motivating to future success with Lincoln Charles – TTDF Training Officer and Motivational 

Speaker 

CLICO Credit Union in 2019 – 
Continuous Education

In 2019, the Education Committee’s intention is to educate our Members about the Credit Union concept, Governance 
and Ownership of the Credit Union, in addition to introducing the myriad of wealth creating opportunities that are 
available to assist with the challenges faced in these stringent economic times.

We are grateful that our membership is always eager to participate in our activities; to be inspired, informed and educated 
on a wide variety of topics.  We look forward to your continued presence. A heartfelt thanks to the Marketing Team, 
Management and Staff; their expertise and professionalism in ensuring that our activities are executed with distinction!

Look out for our upcoming activities in 2019!

___________________
Giselle La Ronde West
Chairperson
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Nominations
Committee Report 2018

Committee Members: 

Maj. Gen Rodney Smart (Chairperson) Andrew Bates 
Nivash Persad      Learie Parris

Nominations were received from the following persons for the areas of Board of Directors, Supervisory Committee and 
Credit Committee: 

Board of Directors  Supervisory Committee  Credit Committee 

Ashraff A. Ali   Ako Bridgeman    Abena St Louis
Colleen Holder   Darlene Chapman   Carmen Iles
Darin Hunte   Jean-Marc Griffith  Chesterfield Sealey
Henry Hamlett    Makini Cuffie                   Cindy Emamdie  
Leslie Nelson   Roddan Davis   Nadine Carrington 
Marcus Girdharie      Rachel Hope 

        Sean Alleyne

All nominees were asked to satisfy the following criteria:
• Must be an active member for at least twelve (12) months
• Must be over the age of eighteen (18) years and of good mental health 
• Must not be an employee of CLICO Credit Union or any other Co-operative Society 
• Must not have been declared bankrupt 
• Must not have been convicted of any indictable or fraudulent offence
• Must be a member in good standing

Having considered all the nominations, the Committee declares that all nominees have met the criteria and are fit and 
proper to contest the elections. The Committee does not expect that nominations will be required from the floor during 
the AGM. 

Sincerest thanks to the following outgoing members of the Board and Statutory Committees for their dedicated service to 
the Credit Union:

• Board of Directors: Darin Hunte, Giselle La Ronde-West, Henry Hamlett 
• Supervisory Committee: Darlene Chapman, Jean-Marc Griffith, Ako Bridgeman
• Credit Committee: Abena St Louis,  Nadine Carrington, Rachel Hope, Carmen Iles, Sean Alleyne

__________________________
Major General Rodney Smart 
Chairman 
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Statement of Management Responsibilities
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Independent Auditors’ Report
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Cont’d)
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Cont’d)
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Statement of Financial Position
Assets

Notes 2018 2017
Cash Resources:

Cash and cash equivalents 5 $ 21,666,111 $ 5,143,098
     Short-term investments 6     12,678,723      10,298,929

Total Cash Resources 34,344,834 15,442,027

Other Assets:
     Accounts receivable and prepayments 7 3,429,681 790,184
     Investment in Joint Venture 8 85,894 -
     Long-term investments 9 15,647,870 26,142,194
     Loans to members 10 282,027,157 263,744,894
     Investment properties 11 8,831,916 9,290,722
     Fixed assets 12      11,800,357      12,478,315

Total Other Assets 321,822,875 312,446,309

Total Assets $ 356,167,709 $ 327,888,336

Liabilities and Memmbers’s Equity
Liabilities:
     Accounts payable and accruals 13 $      2,651,585 $ 2,627,131
     Members’ deposits 26,185,451 21,917,963
     Members’ shares 14    280,045,020    257,835,209

Total Liabilities    308,882,056    282,380,303

Members’ Equity:
     Education fund 15 1,024,865 1,383,721
     Reserve fund 16      20,842,153      19,444,373
     Investment re-measurement reserve 17           162,651   (23,878)
     Undivided earnings      25,255,984      24,703,817

Total Members’ Equity      47,285,653      45,508,033

Total Liabilities and Members’ Equity $ 356,167,709 $ 327,888,336

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 14 March 2019 and 
signed on their behalf by:

                    _____________         ______________     _________________
  President   Treasurer    Secretary
          Supervisory Committee

(The accompanying notes form part of 
these financial statements)



CLICO Credit Union  Annual Report 2018

41

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended

31 December
Notes 2018 2017

Income:
Interest income -
     Net interest income 22 $ 36,206,143 $ 33,446,506
     Non-interest income 23        4,641,555        3,334,486

Total Income 40,847,698      36,780,992

Expenditure:
     Administrative expenses 24 2,846,470 2,592,101
     Insurance 25 3,501,941 3,248,893
     Expected credit losses 26 5,309,682 1,295,339
     Operating expenses 27 9,309,601 3,189,828
     Personnel costs 28        5,888,099        5,921,818
     Share of loss from Joint Venture operations             14,106                       -

Total Expenditure      26,869,899     16,247,979

Net surplus for the year 13,977,799     20,533,013

Other Comprehensive Income:
Items that may not be reclassified subsequently to 
profit and loss:

Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets 
classified as FVTOCI   186,529               (23,878)

   Total Comprehensive Income for the year                     $ 14,164,328 $ 20,509,135

(The accompanying notes form part of 
these financial statements)
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Statement of Appropriated Funds and Undivided Earnings
For The Year Ended 31 December 2018

Education
Fund

Reserve 
Fund

Investment
Re-

measurement
Fund

Undivided 
Earnings Total

Balance as at 1 January 2018 $ 1,383,721 19,444,373 (23,878) 24,703,817  45,508,033
Total Comprehensive Income - - 186,529 13,977,799   14,164,328              

     
Appropriations 
(i)        10% to Reserve Fund                   - 1,397,780                    - (1,397,780)   -
(ii)       1% of the balance to the

Education Fund
       125,800                     -       -       (125,800)  -

  1,509,521    20,842,153 162,651    37,158,036      59,672,361 

Adjustments:                                                         
(i)        Dividends paid - -          - (12,386,708) (12,386,708)
(ii)       Training       (484,656)                     -       -          484,656                     -

Balance as at 31 December 2018 $ 1,024,865 20,842,153   162,651 25,255,984 47,285,653                                                                                                                                    

(The accompanying notes form part of 
these financial statements)

Education
Fund

Reserve 
Fund

Investment
Re-

measurement
Fund

Undivided 
Earnings Total

Balance as at 1 January 2017 $ 1,622,741 17,391,072 - 17,152,727 36,166,540
Total Comprehensive Income - - (23,878) 20,533,013                20,509,135              

     
Appropriations 
(i)        10% to Reserve Fund                    -   2,053,301                    - (2,053,301)   -
(ii)       1% of the balance to the

Education Fund        
  184,797                     -       -      (184,797)  -

  1,807,538    19,444,373    (23,878)    35,447,642     56,675,675 

Adjustments:                                                         
(i)        Dividends paid          - -          - (11,167,642) (11,167,642)
(ii)       Training       (423,817)                     -       -          423,817                  -

Balance as at 31 December 2017 $ 1,383,721 19,444,373  (23,878) 24,703,817 45,508,033                                                                                                                                    
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended

31 December
2018 2017

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net Surplus for the year $ 13,977,799 $ 20,533,013

Items not involving cash:
Expected credit losses 5,309,682 1,295,339
Depreciation expense      1,125,433      1,081,794
Share of loss from joint venture           14,106                    -  
Loss on disposal of fixed assets           10,154            (2,108)      
Impairment of investment      6,000,000                     -
Impairment of investment property         333,806                          -

Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital Items:    26,770,980    22,908,038

Net change in accounts receivable and prepayments (2,639,497)          (28,867)
Net change in accounts payable and accruals           24,454         169,148

Cash provided by operating activities    24,155,937    23,048,319

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:                                                 
Net change in loans to members (23,591,945) (32,367,531)
Net change in fixed assets        (332,629)        (327,275)
Net change in investment properties                      -     (2,833,806)
Net change in short-term investments     (2,379,794)     24,045,908
Net change in investment in joint venture        (100,000)                      -
Net change in long-term investments      4,680,853   (20,582,688)
Sale proceeds from disposal of fixed assets                      -              2,200

Cash used in investing activities (21,723,515)              (32,063,192)      

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:                         
Dividends paid (12,386,708) (11,167,642)
Net change in members’ shares    22,209,811                                                       17,792,497                                                    
Net change in members’ deposits      4,267,488      2,698,671

Cash provided by financing activities    14,090,591    9,323,526

Net change in cash resources        16,523,013         308,653
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year      5,143,098      4,834,445

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 21,666,111 $ 5,143,098

Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,666,111 $ 5,143,098
(The accompanying notes form part of 
these financial statements)
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Notes To The Financial Statements
31 December 2018

1. Principal Business Activities:

The Society is registered under the Co-operative Societies Act Ch: 81:03.  Its objectives are to promote the 
economic welfare, self-help and co-operation of its members and to promote the development of co-operative 
ideas.  The registered office of the Credit Union is located at #33 Edward Street, Port of Spain.

2. Significant Accounting Policies:

a) Basis of financial statements preparation -

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, 
and are stated in Trinidad and Tobago dollars and rounded to the nearest whole dollar.   These financial 
statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the measurement at fair value of 
available-for-sale investments.

b) Use of estimates -

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates and requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the 
Society’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are 
based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ 
from those estimates.

c) Comparative information -

Where necessary, comparative data has been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current 
year.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):

d) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations -

The Society has not applied the following standards, revised standards and interpretations that have been 
issued because they are not yet effective or are not expected to have a material impact on its financial 
statements, except for IFRS 9 Financial Instruments:

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards - Amendments regarding the deletion
  of short-term exemptions for first-time adopters (effective for accounting periods beginning
  on or after 1 January 2018).

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment - Amendments regarding the classification and measurement of share
  based payment transactions (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
  2018).

IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts - Amendments regarding the application of IFRS 9 ‘Financial
  Instruments’ with IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ (effective for accounting periods beginning on
  or after 1 January 2018).
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Amendments regarding the application of IFRS 9 ‘Financial
  Instruments’ with IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ (effective for accounting periods beginning on
  or after 1 January 2018).

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Amendments regarding prepayment features with negative
  compensation (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019).
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective for accounting periods beginning on or
  after 1 January 2018).

IFRS 16 Leases (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019).

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021).

IAS 28 Investment in Associates - Amendments regarding the long-term interests in associates and
  Joint Ventures (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019).

IAS 40 Investment Property - Amendments regarding the transfer of investment property (effective
  for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2018).
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):

d) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations -

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (effective for accounting periods
  beginning on or after 1 January 2018).

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (effective for accounting periods beginning on or
  after 1 January 2019).

e) Property, plant and equipment -

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation is 
provided on the straight line basis.

The following rates considered appropriate to write-off the assets over their estimated useful lives are 
applied:

Building             -    5%
Office equipment        -    10%
Computer equipment      -   10 - 20%
Furniture and fittings        -    5 - 20%
Security system   - 20%
Building improvements          -    5%
Motor vehicle   - 25%
Leasehold improvements  - 33 1/3%

No depreciation is provided on freehold land and capital work-in-progress.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to Capital 
Revaluation Reserve in Shareholders’ Equity.  Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset 
are charged against other reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  Each year the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying 
amount of the asset charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and depreciation based on the 
asset’s original cost is transferred from Capital Revaluation Reserve to Retained Earnings.  When revalued 
assets are sold, the amounts included in Other Reserves are transferred to Retained Earnings.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):

e) Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) -

An independent valuation of the Credit Union’s property located at #33 Edward Street, Port of Spain was 
done by G. A. Farrell and Associates Limited as at 2 November 2016.  The valuation report submitted by the 
valuator indicated that the market value of the property was $10 million, which was $2,260,069 less than the 
net book value recorded by the Society.  The Credit Union amended the value of the property in its financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 to reflect the revaluation of its fixed assets.  The loss on 
revaluation of fixed assets was recorded in Statement of Comprehensive Income and amendments made to 
the relevant cost and accumulated depreciation accounts under fixed assets.  

f) Investment properties -

Properties held for long-term rental yields and capital appreciation, which is not substantially occupied by 
the society are classified as investment properties. Investment properties are stated at historical cost.  No 
depreciation is provided on freehold land.

An independent valuation of the Society’s investment property located at Unit 7, Tobago Fairways Villas 
Limited, Lowlands, Tobago was done by G. A. Farrell and Associated as at 8 March 2018.  The valuation 
report submitted by the valuator stated that the market value of the investment property was $2.5 million, 
which was $333,806 less that the value recorded by the Society.

The Society amended the value of the investment property in its financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2018 to reflect the impairment of the investment property.  The impairment loss was recorded in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

g) Investments in Joint Venture -

The Society has applied IFRS 11 in recognising its joint arrangements.  Under IFRS 11 investments in joint 
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights 
and obligations of each investment.  A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties have rights 
to the net assets of the arrangement. A joint venturer is required to recognize its interest in a joint venture 
as an investment and shall account for that investment using the equity method in accordance with IAS 28 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.  .

A joint venture has been established between the Society and Strategic Information Systems Consulting 
Limited (STRATIS) to provide ICT-Based Credit Union Management Solutions and Services to Credit 
Unions in Trinidad and Tobago and the Caribbean. Both the Society and STRATIS have joint control of 
the arrangement and have equal rights to the net assets of the joint venture.  Therefore, the joint venture is 
accounted for using the equity method in accordance with IFRS 11.



CLICO Credit Union  Annual Report 2018

48

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):

h) Financial Instruments -

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 
9 are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value on the basis of:

(i) the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets; and 
(ii) the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

The Society reassess its business models each reporting period to determine whether they have changed. No 
such changes have been identified for the current year. 

Principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. Interest is consideration for the time 
value of money and for credit and other risks associated with the principal outstanding. Interest also has a 
profit margin element.

Initial measurement

All financial instruments are initially measured at the fair value of consideration given or received. 

The Society measures fair values in accordance with IFRS 13, which defines fair value as the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The Society uses a fair value hierarchy that categorises valuation 
techniques into three levels:

(i) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Assets and liabilities
 are classified as Level 1 if their value is observable in an active market. The use of observable market
 prices and model inputs, when available, reduces the need for management judgement and estimation,
 as well as the uncertainty related with the estimated fair value.

(ii) Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either
 directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active
 markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; and
 inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability. 

(iii) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs. Assets and liabilities are classified as Level 3 if their valuation
 incorporates significant inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):

h) Financial Instruments (cont’d) -

Subsequent measurement

Those financial assets such as members’ loans and receivables, which are held within a business model 
with the sole objective of collecting contractual cash flows which comprise principal and interest only, are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains/losses arising on remeasurement of such financial assets 
are recognised in profit or loss as movements in Expected Credit Loss. When a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost is derecognised, the gain/loss is reflected in profit or loss. 

Those financial assets such as bonds, which are held within a business model with the objectives of (i) 
collecting contractual cash flows which comprise principal and interest only, as well as (ii) selling the 
financial assets, are subsequently measured at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI). 
Gains/losses arising on remeasurement of such financial assets are recognised in OCI as ‘Items that may 
be reclassified subsequently to P&L’ and are called ‘Net FV gain/(loss) on financial assets classified as at 
FVOCI’.
 
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss (FVTPL), except 
for equity investments, which the Society has opted, irrevocably, to measure at FVTOCI. Gains/losses 
arising on remeasurement of such financial assets are recognised in profit or loss as ‘Net FV gain/(loss) 
on financial assets classified at FVTPL’. When a financial asset measured at FVTOCI is derecognised, the 
cumulative gain/loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

Gains/losses arising on remeasurement of equity investments, which the Society has opted, irrevocably, to 
measure at FVTOCI, are recognised in OCI as ‘Items that may not be reclassified subsequently to P&L’ and 
are called ‘Net FV gain/(loss) on equity financial assets classified as at FVOCI’. When an equity investment 
measured at FVTOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain/loss previously recognised in OCI is not 
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss but instead, transferred within equity. 

Reclassification

If the business model under which the Society holds financial assets changes, the financial assets affected 
are reclassified accordingly from the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business 
model. Equity instruments which the Society opted to treat at FVTOCI cannot be reclassified. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):

h) Financial Instruments (cont’d) -

Impairment 

Financial assets at amortised costs are impaired at one of two levels:
 
(i) Twelve-month Expected credit loss (ECL) – These are losses that result from default events that are
 possible within twelve months after the reporting date. Such financial assets are at ‘Stage 1’.

(ii) Lifetime ECL - These are losses that result from all possible default events over the life of the financial
 instrument. Such financial assets are at ‘Stage 2’ or ‘Stage 3’. 

A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk on that financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other financial instruments, ECLs are 
measured at an amount equal to the twelve-month ECL.

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses, measured as the present value of 
the difference between (i) the cash flows due to the credit union under contract; and (ii) the cash flows that 
the Society expects to receive, discounted at the asset’s effective interest rate.  

Performing financial assets – Stage 1

For performing assets and those expected to perform normally, the loss allowance is the 12-month expected 
credit loss and is done immediately at initial recognition of asset.

Significant increase in credit risk – Stage 2

When an asset becomes 30 days past due, the Society considers that a significant increase in credit risk has 
occurred and the asset is deemed to be at Stage 2 and the loss allowance is measured as the lifetime ECL. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):

h) Financial Instruments (cont’d) -

Credit-impaired financial assets – Stage 3

A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired financial assets are referred to as Stage 3 assets. 
Evidence of credit-impairment includes observable data about one or more of the following events: 

(i) significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 

(ii) a breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 

(iii) granted to the borrower of a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider; 

(iv) the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; or 

(v) the purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses. 

The Society assesses whether debt instruments that are financial assets measured at amortised cost are credit-
impaired at each reporting date. There is a rebuttable presumption that financial assets that are in defaulted 
for more than ninety (90) days are credit impaired. The Society also considers a financial asset to be credit 
impaired if the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligation. To determine this, the Society takes into 
account both qualitative indicators such as unemployment, bankruptcy, divorce or death and quantitative 
indicators, such as overdue status. The Society used its historical experience and forward-looking 
information that is available without undue cost or effort. If there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk the Society will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than twelve-month ECL. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):

h) Financial Instruments (cont’d) -

Modification and Derecognition of Financial Assets 

The Society renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulty to maximise collection and minimise the 
risk of default. This occurs particularly where, although the borrower made all reasonable efforts to pay 
under the original contractual terms, there is a high risk of default or default has already happened. The 
revised terms usually include an extension of the maturity of the loan, changes to the timing of the cash 
flows of the loan and /or a reduction in the amount of cash flows due. When a financial asset is modified, 
the Society assesses whether this modification results in derecognition of the original loan, such as when the 
renegotiation gives rise to substantially different terms. 

In the case where the financial asset is derecognised, the new financial asset will have a loss allowance 
measured based on twelve-month ECL. If, however, there remains a high risk of default under the 
renegotiated terms, the loss allowance will be measured based on lifetime ECL. 

When the modification does not result in derecognition, the Society will measure loss allowance at an 
amount equal to lifetime ECL. 

Write-off 

Loans and receivables are written off when the Society has no reasonable expectations of recovering the 
financial asset, for example, when the Society determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources 
of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. 
Subsequent recoveries resulting from the Society’s enforcement activities will result in gains. 

Financial liabilities 

Since the Society does not trade in financial liabilities, and since there are no measurement or recognition 
inconsistencies, all financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs and 
subsequently, at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial instrument 
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.  Financial liabilities recognised at amortised cost are not 
reclassified.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):

h) Financial Instruments (cont’d) -

Measurement of ECL 

The key inputs used for measuring ECL are: 

(i) probability of default (PD); 

(ii) loss given default (LGD); and 

(iii) exposure at default (EAD). 

The Society measures ECL on an individual basis, or on a collective basis for portfolios of loans that share 
similar economic risk characteristics. The credit union’s financial instruments are grouped on the basis of 
shared risk characteristics, such as: 

(i) credit risk grade; 

(ii) collateral type; 

(iii) date of initial recognition; 

(iv) remaining term to maturity; 

(v) industry; 

(vi) geographic location of the borrower; 

(vii) income bracket of the borrower; and 

(viii) the value of collateral relative to the financial asset. 

The groupings are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that each grouping is comprised of homogenous 
exposures.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):

h) Financial Instruments (cont’d) -

Measurement of ECL (cont’d)

An analysis of the Society’s credit risk exposure without taking into account the effects of collateral is 
provided in the following tables. The amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts. 

The table below analyses the movement of the loss allowance on Loans to members at amortised cost during 
the year. 

Loans
Stage 1       

12 month 
ECL

Stage 2
Lifetime 

ECL

Stage 3    
Lifetime 

ECL
Total

Low risk $ 269,678,921 $ - $ - $ 269,678,921
Medium Risk                   - 6,828,327 -    6,828,327
Substandard                   - 6,187,428 -    6,187,428
Doubtful - - 5,287,339    5,287,339
Impaired                      -                   -  13,449,763   13,449,763
Total gross carrying amount $ 269,678,921                    $ 13,015,755 $ 18,737,102                       $ 301,431,778

Stage 1       Stage 2 Stage 3    Total
Loss allowance, beginning of year $ - $ - $   14,126,250 $   14,126,250
Transfer to stage 1 - -                    -                   -
Transfer to stage 2 - -                    -                   -
Transfer to stage 3 - -                    -                   -
Increases/decreases due to changes 
in credit risk

563,749 622,086    2,577,852     3,763,687

Write-offs - -       (31,311)         (31,311)
Loss allowance on new loans         827,421 235,787       482,787     1,545,995
Loss allowance on derecognised 
loans  

                  -                      -                    -                   -

Loss allowance, end of year $ 1,391,170                    $ 857,873 $ 17,155,578                       $ 19,404,621
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):

h) Financial Instruments (cont’d) -

Collateral held as security 

The Society holds the following types of collateral to mitigate credit risk associated with financial assets: 
 

General loans   Shares in the credit union 
Mortgage lending *  Deed of Mortgage on property 
Vehicle loans   Deed of Mortgage on vehicles 

*The Society holds residential properties as collateral for the mortgage loans it grants to its 
members. The value of the collateral for residential mortgage loans is typically based on the 
collateral value at origination, updated based on changes in house prices. For credit-impaired 
loans, the value of collateral is based on the most recent appraisals. 

Assets obtained by taking possession of collateral 

The Society obtained the following assets during the year by taking possession of collateral held as security 
against loans held at the year end. The Society’s policy is to realise collateral on a timely basis.
 

Property    Nil  
Shares    Nil  
Other    Nil  
Total assets obtained by
taking possession of collateral  Nil  
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d):

h) Financial Instruments (cont’d) -

While cash and cash equivalents are also subjected to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified 
impairment loss was immaterial.

i) Income -

Loan Interest

Interest charged on all loans to members is calculated at 1.5% per month on the outstanding balance at the 
end of each month and is accounted for on the accrual basis.

Non-performing loans are amounts for which interest no longer continues to be accrued and taken into 
income on an ongoing basis because there is doubt as to the recoverability of the loans.  Income from non-
performing loans is taken into income on a cash basis, but only after prior specific provisions for losses have 
been made. For non-performing loans, specific provisions are made for the unsecured portion of the loan.  
The amount of the provision is dependent upon the extent of the delinquency.

Investment Income

Income from investments is accounted for on the accruals basis except for dividends, which are accounted 
for on a cash basis, consistent with International Accounting Standard 18.

j) Dividends payable to members -

Dividends are computed on the basis of the average value of shares in issue throughout the year, the average 
being determined on the basis of the value of shares held at the end of each day.

k) Foreign currency -

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are expressed in Trinidad and Tobago 
dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date.  All revenue and expenditure transactions 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the average rate and the resulting profits and losses on 
exchange from these trading activities are recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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3. Financial Risk Management: 
Financial risk factors 

The Society’s activities are primarily related to the use of financial instruments.  The Society accepts funds 
from members and earns interest by investing in equity investments, and on-lending to members at higher 
interest rates.
 
Financial Instruments

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of the Society’s financial assets and 
liabilities:

2018
Carrying 

Value
Fair 

Value
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,666,111 $ 21,666,111
Investments 28,326,593 28,326,593
Accounts receivable and prepayments 3,140,073 3,140,073
Accrued interest income 289,608 289,608
Investment in joint venture 85,894 85,894
Loans to members 282,027,157 282,027,157

Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 2,651,585 2,651,585
Members’ deposits 26,185,451 26,185,451
Members’ shares 280,045,020 280,045,020

2017
Carrying 

Value
Fair 

Value
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,143,098 $ 5,143,098
Investments 36,441,123 36,441,123
Accounts receivable and prepayments 734,579 734,579
Accrued interest income 55,605 55,605
Loans to members 263,744,894 263,744,894

Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 2,627,131 2,627,131
Members’ deposits 21,917,963 21,917,963
Members’ shares 257,835,209 257,835,209    
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3. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d): 
The Society is exposed to interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, operational risk, 
compliance risk and reputation risk arising from the financial instruments that it holds. The risk management 
policies employed by the Society to manage these risks are discussed below:

a) Interest rate risk -

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The Society is exposed to interest rate risk through the effect of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of 
interest rates on interest bearing financial assets and liabilities, including investments in bonds, loans, 
customer deposits and other funding instruments.

The exposure is managed through the matching of funding products with financial services and 
monitoring market conditions and yields.

i) Bonds

The Society invests mainly in medium term bonds consisting of fixed rate instruments.

The market values of the fixed rate bonds are not very sensitive to changes in interest rates. 
The market values of the floating rate bonds are sensitive to changes in interest rates. The 
longer the maturity of the bonds, the greater is the sensitivity to changes in interest rates. 
Because these assets are being held to maturity and are not traded, any changes in market 
values will not impact the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

ii) Loans 

The Society generally invests in fixed rate loans for terms not exceeding eight years. These 
are funded mainly from member deposits and shares.

         iii)         Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

The Society’s exposure to interest rate risk is summarized in the table below, which analyses 
assets and liabilities at their carrying amounts categorized according to their maturity dates. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d):

a) Interest rate risk (cont’d) -

2018

Effective
Rate

Up to
1 year

1 to
5 years

Over
5 years

Non-Interest
Bearing Total

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 0.00% $                     - $                    - $ - $ 21,666,111 $ 21,666,111

Short-term investments 0.90%   12,678,723 -                 -                  - 12,678,723
Accounts receivable and 
Prepayments

0.00%   - -                 - 3,429,681 3,429,681

Investment in joint venture 0.00% - -                 - 85,894 85,894
Long-term investments 2.78% -    15,647,870 -       - 15,647,870

Loans to members 1.50%      8,268,267  123,097,672 150,661,218                  -   282,027,157

$ 20,946,990 $ 138,745,542 $ 150,661,218 $ 25,181,686 $ 335,535,436

Financial Liabilities

Accounts payable and 
accruals  0.00% $                  - $                    - $               - $   2,651,585 $ 2,651,585

Members’ deposits 3.56%    23,621,654      2,563,797               -                   -     26,185,451

$ 23,621,654 $ 2,563,797 $ - $ 2,651,585 $ 28,837,036

2017

Effective
Rate

Up to
1 year

1 to
5 years

Over
5 years

Non-Interest
Bearing Total

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 0.00% $ - $        - $        - $ 5,143,098 $ 5,143,098

Short-term investments 0.90%   10,298,929 -               -                 - 10,298,929

Accounts receivable and 
prepayments 0.00%   - -               - 790,184 790,184

Other investments 2.78% - 26,142,194               - - 26,142,194

Loans to members 1.50%      8,665,865                                                               114,322,030 140,756,999                 -   263,744,894

$ 18,964,794 $ 140,464,224 $ 140,756,999 $ 5,933,282 $ 306,119,299

Financial Liabilities

Accounts payable and 
accruals  0.00% $               - $                  - $               - $ 2,627,131 $ 2,627,131

Members’ deposits 3.56% 18,664,644  3,253,319               -    -     21,917,963

$ 18,664,644 $ 3,253,319 $ - $ 2,627,131 $ 24,545,094
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3. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d):

b) Credit risk -

Credit risk arises when a failure by counter parties to discharge their obligations could reduce the 
amount of future cash inflows from financial assets on hand at the reporting date. The Society relies 
heavily on a written Loan Policy Manual, which sets out in detail the current policies governing the 
lending function and provides a comprehensive framework for prudent risk management of the credit 
function. Adherence to these guidelines is expected to communicate the Society’s lending philosophy; 
provide policy guidelines to team members involved in lending; establish minimum standards for 
credit analysis, documentation, decision making and post-disbursement administration; as well as 
create the foundation for a sound credit portfolio.

The Society’s loan portfolio is managed and consistently monitored by the Credit Committee and is 
adequately secured by collateral and where necessary, provisions have been established for potential 
credit losses on delinquent accounts. Cash balances are held with high credit quality financial 
institutions and the Society has policies to limit the amount of exposure to any single financial 
institution. The Society also actively monitors global economic developments and government policies 
that may affect the growth rate of the local economy.

Cash balances are held with high credit quality financial institutions and the credit union has policies to 
limit the amount of exposure to any single financial institution. 

The credit union also actively monitors global economic developments and government policies that 
may affect the growth rate of the local economy.

Credit risk management  
The credit committee is responsible for managing the credit union’s credit risk by: 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d):

b) Credit risk (cont’d) -

(i) ensuring that the credit union has appropriate credit risk practices, including an effective
 system of internal control, to consistently determine adequate allowances in accordance with
 the credit union’s policies and procedures, International Financial Reporting Standards and
 relevant supervisory guidance. 

(ii) identifying, assessing and measuring credit risk across the credit union, from an individual
 financial instrument to the portfolio level. 

(iii) creating credit policies to protect the credit union against the identified risks, including the
 obtaining collateral from borrowers, performing robust ongoing credit assessment of
 borrowers, and continually monitor exposures. 

(iv) as far as possible, limiting concentrations of exposure by type of loan, industry, credit rating,
 geographic location, etc. 

(v) establishing a robust control mechanism for loan approval.

(vi) categorising exposures according to the degree of risk of default.

(vii) developing and maintaining processes for measuring ECL. 

(viii) providing guidance to promote best practice in the management of risk. 

The internal audit function performs regular audits making sure that the established controls and 
procedures are adequately designed and implemented. 

Significant increase in credit risk  
The credit union presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than thirty (30) days past due, unless the credit 
union has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. The A credit union 
has monitoring procedures to ensure that significant increase in credit risk is identified before default 
occurs.
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3. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d):

c) Liquidity risk -

Liquidity risk is the risk that arises when the maturity dates of assets and liabilities do not match. An 
unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses. The 
Society has procedures with the object of minimizing such losses such as maintaining sufficient cash 
and other highly liquid current assets and by having available an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities. The Society is able to make daily calls on its available cash resources to settle financial and 
other liabilities.

i) Risk management

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and 
liabilities are fundamental to the management of the Society. The Society employs various 
asset/liability techniques to manage liquidity gaps. Liquidity gaps are mitigated by the 
marketable nature of a substantial segment of the Society’s assets as well as generating 
sufficient cash from new and renewed members’ deposits and shares. To manage and reduce 
liquidity risk the Society’s management actively seeks to match cash inflows with liability 
requirements.

ii) Liquidity gap

The Society’s exposure to liquidity risk is summarized in the table below which analyses 
assets and liabilities based on the remaining period from the reporting date to the contractual 
maturity date.
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3. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d):

c) Liquidity risk (cont’d) -

ii) Liquidity gap  (cont’d)

2018
Up to
1 year

1 to
5 years

Over
5 years Total

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,666,111 $        - $        - $ 21,666,111
Short-term Investments     12,678,723 -                 -     12,678,723
Accounts receivable and 
Prepayments 3,429,681 -                 - 3,429,681

Investment in joint venture - - 85,894 85,894
Long-term investments                      -                                               15,647,870 - 15,647,870                                               
Loans to members        8,268,267    123,097,672 150,661,218                           282,027,157

$ 46,042,782 $ 138,745,542 $ 150,747,112                       $ 335,535,436

Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals $ 2,651,585 $                    - $                  - $ 2,651,585
Members’ deposits      23,621,654 2,563,797                  -      26,185,451
Members’ shares    280,045,020                    - -    280,045,020

$ 306,318,259 $ 2,563,797   $ - $ 308,882,056 

2017
Up to
1 year

1 to
5 years

Over
5 years Total

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,143,098 $        - $        - $ 5,143,098
Short-term Investments     10,298,929 -                 - 10,298,929
Accounts receivable and 
Prepayments 790,184 -                 - 790,184

Long-term investments                      -                           26,142,194                 -      26,142,194                           
Loans to members        8,665,865    114,322,030 140,756,999                          263,744,894

$ 24,898,076 $ 140,464,224 $ 140,756,999                       $ 306,119,299

Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals $ 2,627,131 $                    - $                  - $ 2,627,131
Members’ deposits      18,664,644 3,253,319                  - 21,917,963
Members’ shares    257,835,209                    - -    257,835,209

$ 279,126,984 $ 3,253,319  $ - $ 282,380,303 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d):

d) Currency risk -

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. Currency risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognized assets and 
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the Society’s measurement currency. The Society 
is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures primarily with respect 
to the United States Dollar. The Society’s management monitors the exchange rate fluctuations on a 
continuous basis and acts accordingly.

  e) Operational risk -

Operational risk is the risk derived from deficiencies relating to the Society’s information technology 
and control systems, as well as the risk of human error and natural disasters. The Society’s systems are 
evaluated, maintained and upgraded continuously. 

f) Compliance risk -

Compliance risk is the risk of financial loss, including fines and other penalties, which arise from 
non-compliance with laws and regulations of the state. The risk is limited to a significant extent due to 
the supervision applied by the Inspector of Financial Institutions at the Central Bank of Trinidad and 
Tobago, as well as by the monitoring controls applied by the Society.

g) Reputation risk -

The risk of loss of reputation arising from the negative publicity relating to the Society’s operations 
(whether true or false) may result in a reduction of its clientele, reduction in revenue and legal cases 
against the Society. The Society applies procedures to minimize this risk.
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4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments:

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events, that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The society 
makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. However, actual results could differ from those 
estimates as the resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Changes in accounting estimates are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in 
which the estimate is changed, if the change affects that period only, or in the period of the change and future 
periods if the change affects both current and future periods.

The critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements, are as follows:  
i) Whether investments are classified as held to maturity investments, available for sale or loans and 
 receivables.

ii) Which depreciation method for investment properties and fixed assets are used.

iii) Business model assessment:  
 The Society reassess its business models each reporting period to determine whether they continue
 to be appropriate and if there need to be a prospective change to the classification of financial assets.
 This assessment includes judgement regarding:
 

• how the performance of the assets is evaluated and measured; and 

• the risks that affect the performance of the assets and how these risks are managed.  
 
iv) Significant increase of credit risk: 

 The society union computes twelve-month ECL for Stage 1 assets and lifetime ECL for Stage 2 or
 Stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial
 recognition. Assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk required judgement
 takes into account reasonable and supportable forward-looking information. 

v) Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics: 

 When ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of
 shared risk characteristics. The Society monitors the appropriateness of the credit risk characteristics
 on an ongoing basis to assess whether they continue to be similar. Judgement is required in
 determining whether and when to move assets between portfolios.
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4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments:

vi) Valuation models and assumptions used: 

 The Society uses various valuation models and assumptions in measuring the fair value of financial
 assets, as well as in estimating ECL. Judgement is applied in identifying the most appropriate valuation
 model for each type of asset, as well as in determining the assumptions to be used for each model.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date (requiring management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgements) that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
as follows:

i) Impairment of assets

 Management assesses at each reporting date whether assets are impaired. An asset is impaired when
 the carrying value is greater than its recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of impairment.
 Recoverable amount is the present value of the future cash flows. Provisions are made for the excess of
 the carrying value over its recoverable amount.

ii) Probability of default (PD)

 PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given period of time, the calculation of which
 includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions. PD constitutes a key input
 in measuring ECL. 
iii) Loss Given Default (LGD):

 LGD is an estimate of the percentage loss arising on default, and is based on the difference between the
 contractual cash flows due and those that the Society would reasonably expect to receive, taking into
 account cash flows from collateral. It requires forecasting the future valuation of collateral taking into
 account sale discounts, the time and cost associated with realising collateral and seniority of claim.
 LGD is a key input in measuring ECL.

iv) Fair value measurement and valuation process

 In estimating the fair value of a financial asset or a liability, the  credit union uses market-observable
 data to the extent it is available. Where such Level 1 inputs are not available, the credit union n uses
 valuation models to determine the fair value of its financial instruments.  
v) Exposure at Default (EAD)

 EAD is an estimate of the total loss incurred when a member defaults, taking into account expected
 changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest. EAD is
 a key input in measuring ECL.

vi) Plant and equipment

 Management exercises judgement in determining whether future economic benefits can be derived
 from expenditures to be capitalised and in estimating the useful lives and residual values of these
 assets.
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5. Cash and Cash Equivalents:

6. Short-Term Investments: 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

7. Accounts Receivable and Prepayments:

31 December
2018 2017

Petty cash $ 3,000 $ 3,000

Cash and cheques in transit 5,608,011 307,298

Credit Card Bonus Points Certificate 2,772 -

Republic Bank Limited 14,812,691 4,489,428

First Citizens Bank Limited        1,239,637           343,372

$ 21,666,111 $ 5,143,098

31 December
2018 2017

Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation:
- TTD Income Fund $ 2,055,828 $ 6,012,685
- USD Income Fund        79,563        1,284,333

Home Mortgage Bank:
- Mortgage Participation Fund 1,524,595 1,501,911

Guardian Asset Management Limited:
- Income Fund 901 1,500,000

First Citizens Investment Services Limited:
- Repurchase Agreements 9,017,836 -

$ 12,678,723 $ 10,298,929

31 December
2018 2017

Fixed deposit receivable $ 1,336,000 $ -

Accounts receivable           54,550 13,000

Accrued interest income         289,608 55,605

Prepaid expenses         848,450 507,908

Commission receivable         882,754 42,024

Sundry debtors             18,319           171,647

$          3,429,681 $ 790,184
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8. Investment in Joint Venture:

2018
Current assets $ 208,714
Non-current assets 18,180
Current liabilities 55,582
Non-current liabilities                  -

The following has been included in the amounts above: -
Cash and cash equivalent 29,887
Accounts receivable      178,827

208,714

Revenue
Profit/(loss) for the year 84,663

The following has been included in the amounts above:
Depreciation 4,545

Reconciliation of summarised financial information
To carrying amount of interest in Joint Venture 2,506,901

Net Assets of Joint Venture 175,294
Proportion of ownership interest (49%) 49%
Carrying amount of interest in Joint Venture $ 85,894
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9. Long-Term Investments:

31 December
2018 2017

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income - 

Fixed Deposit:

- Trinidad Buildings and Loan Association      $ 2,500,000 $ 2,500,000

Shareholdings:

-  CLICO Investment Fund 2,118,693 1,380,246
-  First Citizens Bank Limited 3,397,000 3,200,000
-  Flavorite Foods Limited - 6,000,000
-  Trinidad and Tobago NGL Limited 507,271 461,948
-  National Investment Fund 1,225,090 -
-  The Central Finance Facility Co-operative Society of

       Trinidad and Tobago Limited
500,000 500,000

Other:
- First Citizens Investment Services Limited

- Medium Term Notes 2,100,000 -
- Repurchase Agreements 7,500,000 -

- Guardian Asset Management Limited
- 4.47% Fixed Rate Loan 799,816 -

Amortised Cost

Bond:
    -   Home Mortgage Bank 2,500,000 2,500,000

$ 15,647,870 $ 26,142,194
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10. Loans to Members:

(a) Loans granted -
31 December

2018 2017
Loans to members $ 301,431,778 $ 277,871,144

Less:  Allowance for expected credit losses    (19,404,621)    (14,126,250)

$ 282,027,157 $ 263,744,894

(b)        Allowance for expected credit losses -

Balance brought forward $ 14,126,250 $ 15,990,490

Additional expected credit losses        5,309,682        1,295,339

Amounts written-off            (31,311)       (3,159,579)

Balance carried forward $ 19,404,621 $ 14,126,250
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11. Investment Properties:

In 2015, the Society purchased a parcel of land located at #31 Edward Street, Port-of-Spain.  Its main purpose 
is the generation of car park income for the Society and therefore classified as Investment Property under 
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 40.

In 2017, the Society entered into a nine hundred and ninety-nine (999) year lease arrangement with Tobago 
Fairways Villas Limited for a property located at Villa No. 7, Lowlands, Tobago.  Its main purpose is the 
generation of rental income for the Society and therefore classified as Investment Property under International 
Accounting Standard (IAS) 40.

Villa No. 7
Lowlands

Car Park
Edward Street Total

Cost
Balance as at 1 January 2018 $         2,833,806 $        6,456,916                                            $ 9,290,722
Impairment           (333,806)                       -       (333,806)

Balance as at 31 December 2018 $ 2,500,000 $ 6,456,916 $ 8,956,916

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at 1 January 2018 $                     -   $ - $                     -   
Charge for the year          125,000 -          125,000

Balance as at 31 December 2018 $ 125,000 $ - $ 125,000

Net Book Value
Balance as at 31 December 2018 $ 2,375,000 $ 6,456,916 $ 8,831,916
Balance as at 31 December 2017 $        2,833,806 $ 6,456,916 $        9,290,722

Villa No. 7
Lowlands

Car Park
Edward Street Total

Cost
Balance as at 1 January 2017 $ - $        6,456,916                                            $ 6,456,916                                            

Additions        2,833,806                       -        2,833,806

Balance as at 31 December 2017 $ 2,833,806 $ 6,456,916 $ 9,290,722

Net Book Value

Balance as at 31 December 2017 $ 2,833,806 $ 6,456,916 $ 9,290,722

Balance as at 31 December 2016 $        - $ 6,456,916 $        6,456,916
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12. Fixed Assets:

31 December 2018

Freehold 
Property Building

Office
Equipment

Computer
Equipment

Furniture 
and Fittings

Security
System

Motor 
Vehicle

Total

Cost
Balance as at 1 January 2018 $ 5,000,000 $ 5,000,000 $ 685,783 $ 3,302,402 $ 1,937,539 $ 109,137 $ 766,537 $ 16,801,398
Additions -                    - -          53,787       278,842 -                    -           332,629
Disposals -     -                   -         (20,581)                  -                                   -                    -            (20,581)

Balance as at 31 December 2018 5,000,000 5,000,000 685,783 3,335,608 2,216,381 109,137 766,537      17,113,446      

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at 1 January 2018 - 291,667 361,490 1,664,817 1,149,877 88,695 766,537 4,323,083
Charge for the year -         250,000 58,955        516,625             164,719 10,134         -        1,000,433
Disposals -                     -                   -                                                                                   (10,427)                   -                  -                    -            (10,427)

Balance as at 31 December 2018 - 541,667 420,445 2,171,015 1,314,596 98,829                                    766,537 5,313,089

Net Book Value

Balance as at 31 December 2018 $ $5,000,000 $      4,458,333 $ 265,338 $ 1,164,593 $ 901,785 $ 10,308            $ - $ 11,800,357

Balance as at 31 December 2017 $ $5,000,000 $ 4,708,333 $       324,293 $ 1,637,585 $ 787,662 $ 20,442    $ - $ 12,478,315    

31 December 2017

Freehold 
Property Building

Office
Equipment

Computer
Equipment

Furniture 
and Fittings

Security
System

Motor 
Vehicle

Total

Cost
Balance as at 1 January 2017 $ 5,000,000 $ 5,000,000 $ 657,649 $ 3,085,914 $ 1,871,293 $ 109,137 $ 766,537 $ 16,490,530
Additions -                    - 28,134        216,488         82,653 -                    -           327,275
Disposals -     -                   -                   -        (16,407)                                   -                    -            (16,407)

Balance as at 31 December 2017 5,000,000 5,000,000 685,783 3,302,402 1,937,539 109,137 766,537      16,801,398         

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at 1 January 2017 - 41,667 302,291 1,151,553 1,016,242 73,273 672,578 3,257,604
Charge for the year -         250,000 59,199        513,264       149,950 15,422         93,959        1,081,794
Disposals -                     -                  -                                                                                             -         (16,315)                  -                   -            (16,315)

Balance as at 31 December 2017 -         291,667 361,490 1,664,817 1,149,877       88,695                                                      766,537 4,323,083

Net Book Value

Balance as at 31 December 2017 $ $5,000,000 $      4,708,333 $       324,293 $ 1,637,585 $ 787,662 $ 20,442                $ - $ 12,478,315

Balance as at 31 December 2016 $ $5,000,000 $ 4,958,333 $       355,358 $ 1,934,361 $ 855,051 $ 35,864    $ 93,959 $ 13,232,926      
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31 December 2018

Freehold 
Property Building

Office
Equipment

Computer
Equipment

Furniture 
and Fittings

Security
System

Motor 
Vehicle

Total

Cost
Balance as at 1 January 2018 $ 5,000,000 $ 5,000,000 $ 685,783 $ 3,302,402 $ 1,937,539 $ 109,137 $ 766,537 $ 16,801,398
Additions -                    - -          53,787       278,842 -                    -           332,629
Disposals -     -                   -         (20,581)                  -                                   -                    -            (20,581)

Balance as at 31 December 2018 5,000,000 5,000,000 685,783 3,335,608 2,216,381 109,137 766,537      17,113,446      

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at 1 January 2018 - 291,667 361,490 1,664,817 1,149,877 88,695 766,537 4,323,083
Charge for the year -         250,000 58,955        516,625             164,719 10,134         -        1,000,433
Disposals -                     -                   -                                                                                   (10,427)                   -                  -                    -            (10,427)

Balance as at 31 December 2018 - 541,667 420,445 2,171,015 1,314,596 98,829                                    766,537 5,313,089

Net Book Value

Balance as at 31 December 2018 $ $5,000,000 $      4,458,333 $ 265,338 $ 1,164,593 $ 901,785 $ 10,308            $ - $ 11,800,357

Balance as at 31 December 2017 $ $5,000,000 $ 4,708,333 $       324,293 $ 1,637,585 $ 787,662 $ 20,442    $ - $ 12,478,315    

31 December 2017

Freehold 
Property Building

Office
Equipment

Computer
Equipment

Furniture 
and Fittings

Security
System

Motor 
Vehicle

Total

Cost
Balance as at 1 January 2017 $ 5,000,000 $ 5,000,000 $ 657,649 $ 3,085,914 $ 1,871,293 $ 109,137 $ 766,537 $ 16,490,530
Additions -                    - 28,134        216,488         82,653 -                    -           327,275
Disposals -     -                   -                   -        (16,407)                                   -                    -            (16,407)

Balance as at 31 December 2017 5,000,000 5,000,000 685,783 3,302,402 1,937,539 109,137 766,537      16,801,398         

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at 1 January 2017 - 41,667 302,291 1,151,553 1,016,242 73,273 672,578 3,257,604
Charge for the year -         250,000 59,199        513,264       149,950 15,422         93,959        1,081,794
Disposals -                     -                  -                                                                                             -         (16,315)                  -                   -            (16,315)

Balance as at 31 December 2017 -         291,667 361,490 1,664,817 1,149,877       88,695                                                      766,537 4,323,083

Net Book Value

Balance as at 31 December 2017 $ $5,000,000 $      4,708,333 $       324,293 $ 1,637,585 $ 787,662 $ 20,442                $ - $ 12,478,315

Balance as at 31 December 2016 $ $5,000,000 $ 4,958,333 $       355,358 $ 1,934,361 $ 855,051 $ 35,864    $ 93,959 $ 13,232,926      
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13. Accounts Payable and Accruals:

14. Members’ Shares:

According to the Bye-Laws of CLICO Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited, the capital of the Society 
may be composed of an unlimited number of shares of $5 each.  In accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Interpretation (IFRIC) Interpretation 2, redeemable shares have been treated as liabilities.

15. Education Fund:

The Board of Directors has set aside at the end of the year an amount to the Education Fund of 1% of the net 
surplus for the year, after making provision for the Reserve Fund. This fund is to be used for the educational 
purpose of its members.

16. Reserve Fund:

In accordance with the Co-operative Societies Act, 1971, Section 47 (2) and Bye-Law 19 (5) of the Credit 
Union, at least 10% of the total comprehensive income for the year of the Society is to be charged to the 
Reserve Fund.

17. Investment Re-measurement Reserve:

In accordance with IAS 39, the Board of Directors has created an investment re-measurement reserve which 
includes the unrealised gains/losses on available-for-sale investments.

31 December
2018 2017

Insurance payable $ 281,933 $ 263,405

Vacation leave payable 14,582 17,074

Medical plan payable       1,179,839       1,075,641

Non-members accounts 197,574 367,517

Stale-dated cheques 161,011 106,803

Sundry payables          816,646          796,691

$ 2,651,585 $ 2,627,131
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18. Related Party Transactions:

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial decisions. 

Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Society.

A number of transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business.  These 
transactions were carried out on commercial terms at market rates.

Balances and transaction with related parties and key management personnel during the year were as follows:

31 December
2018 2017

Assets, Liabilities and Members’ Equity

Loans and other receivables

Directors, committee members, key management 
Personnel and close family members $ 4,198,305 $ 4,213,488

Shares, deposits and other liabilities

Directors, committee members, key management 
Personnel and close family members $ 6,644,895 $ 6,512,294

Interest and other income

Directors, committee members, key management 
Personnel and close family members $ 431,414 $ 484,821

Interest and other expenses

Directors, committee members, key management 
Personnel and close family members $           286,199 $           328,500

Key management compensation

Short-term benefits $ 1,610,687 $ 2,277,764
Post employment benefits           493,639               90,472   

$ 2,104,326 $ 2,368,236
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19. Dividends:
The Board of Directors has proposed a dividend of 5% for the year ended 31 December 2018.  The dividend, 
amounting to $13,211,233 is not recorded as a liability in the Statement of Financial Position in accordance with 
IAS 10.

20. Fair Values:

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The existence of published price quotation in an active market 
is the best evidence of fair value. Where market prices are not available, fair values are estimated using 
various valuation techniques, including using recent arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable, 
willing parties, if available, current fair value of another financial instrument that is substantially the same and 
discounted cash flow analysis. 

 The following methods have been used to estimate the fair values of various classes of financial assets and 
liabilities:

a) Current assets and liabilities -

The carrying amounts of current assets and liabilities are a reasonable approximation of the fair values 
because of their short-term nature.

b) Members’ loans -

Loans are net of specific provisions for losses. These assets result from transactions conducted under 
typical market conditions and their values are not adversely affected by unusual terms. The inherent 
rates of interest in the portfolio approximate market conditions and yield discounted cash flow values 
which are substantially in accordance with financial statement amounts.

c) Investments -

The fair values of investments are determined on the basis of quoted market prices available at 31 
December 2018.

d) Members’ deposits - 

Members’ deposits bear interest at rates that are not significantly different from current rates and are 
assumed to have discounted cash flow values which approximate carrying values.

21. Capital Risk Management:

The Society manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising 
the return to members, whilst providing value to its members by offering loan and savings facilities. The 
Society’s overall strategy remains unchanged from previous years.

The capital structure of the Society consists of equity attributable to members, which comprises issued members 
shares, reserves and retained earnings.
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22. Net Interest Income:

23. Non-Interest Income:

31 December
2018 2017

Interest income:
Interest on loans $ 36,001,077 $ 33,397,498
Investment income         772,792         558,290

36,773,869 33,955,788

Interest expense:
Members deposit interest (567,726) (509,282)

$ 36,206,143 $ 33,446,506

31 December
2018 2017

Car park rental income $ 84,950 $ 85,800
Commission on insurance business     411,687     466,280
Early pay-off penalty 634,895 138,250
Educational programs income 2,450 15,035
Gain on disposal of fixed assets - 2,108
Loan processing fees     1,394,104     1,478,336
Membership fees             2,075             1,940
Mortgage bill             -             1,290
Other fee income      1,867,649      1,145,447
Tobago Villa rental income 78,300 -
Share withdrawal fees         141,697 -
Letter request income           23,748                     -

$      4,641,555 $ 3,334,486
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24. Administrative Expenses:

25. Insurance:

26. Expected Credit Losses:

31 December
2018 2017

Group health $ 103,874 $         93,057
Group life savings 3,271,949 3,026,295
Other insurances         126,118         129,541

$ 3,501,941 $ 3,248,893

31 December
2018 2017

Attributable to –
Loans to members $      5,309,682 $ 1,295,339

31 December
2018 2017

Anniversary Celebration $       - $ 1,058
Annual General meeting 205,559 206,048
Co-operative activities 155,361 338,436
Depreciation 1,125,433 1,081,794
Entertainment 1,246 600
Interest and bank charges 97,880 96,277
Miscellaneous 281 713
Professional fees 1,226,280 821,242
Refreshment for meetings 33,687 43,215
Travelling and parking                743              2,718

$ 2,846,470        $ 2,592,101     
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27. Operating Expenses:

28. Personnel Costs:

31 December
2018 2017

Cleaning $ 77,578 $ 106,594
Computer 389,725 426,006
Credit Chex expense 200,924 169,481
Education Committee expenses 94,378 109,317
Electricity 114,049 134,921
Flood relief expenses 44,546 -
Honoraria 162,500 328,500
Impairment of investment 6,000,000 -
Impairment of investment property 333,806 -
LinCU 81,000 58,375
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 10,154 -
Marketing Committee expenses 54,407 167,727
Miscellaneous 241,821 438,232
Motor vehicle expenses 28,791 43,436
Pantry 55,562 51,914
Printing and stationery 231,658 174,773
Promotional 159,716 22,185
Rental expense 89,779 95,148
Repairs and maintenance 286,124 400,578
Security 275,723 299,528
Telephone 156,257 158,885
Tobago Villa expenses 212,779 -

Water rates and taxes            8,324             4,228

$      9,309,601 $ 3,189,828

31 December
2018 2017

NIS – Employer’s contributions $ 377,808 $ 333,698
Other employee benefits 434,598 170,929
Pension plan 166,456 197,792
Salaries 4,424,581 4,795,582
Training           484,656           423,817

$   5,888,099 $ 5,921,818
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CLICO Credit Union Co-Operative Society Limited
Schedules to Projected Statement of Comprehensive Income

Projected
2019 2018

Schedule 1: Members' Deposit Interest
Ordinary Deposits  274,210  350,000 
Fixed Deposits  346,972  200,000 

$  621,182 $  550,000 
Schedule 2: Administrative Costs  

Annual General Meetings  329,500  205,000 
Audit Fees  161,472  190,000 
Bank Charges  120,000  120,000 
Consultancy - Finance/Accounting & I.T.  546,060  450,000 
Co-Operative Activities  169,500  250,000 
Depreciation  1,601,468  1,150,000 
Entertainment  20,000  15,000 
Legal  180,000  325,000 
Milestone Celebrations  15,000  - 
Professional - H.R. & Risk Management  651,000  320,000 
Recruitment  20,000  25,000 
Refreshments for Meetings  30,000  35,000 
Travelling & Parking  5,200  - 

$  3,849,200 $  3,085,000 
Schedule 3: Insurance Costs

Group Savings & Loan 2,853,924 3,200,000
Motor Vehicle 24,000 23,500
Non Motor Vehicle 128,700 146,500
Group Health 129,840 115,000

$ 3,136,464 $ 3,485,000
Schedule 4: Personnel Costs

Employee Benefits  152,190  450,000 
National Insurance  399,569  400,000 
Pension  229,992  225,000 
Salaries  5,431,567  5,210,000 
Severance & Gratuity  493,639  - 
Subsistence  3,600  14,000 
Training  438,515  385,000 

$  7,149,072 $  6,684,000 
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CLICO Credit Union Co-Operative Society Limited
Schedules to Projected Statement of Comprehensive Income

Projected
2019 2018

Schedule 5: Operating Costs
Advertising  110,940  95,000 
Cleaning Supplies & Services  70,000  64,200 
Computer Repairs & Services  397,586  371,300 
Credit Chex  2,813  160,000 
Donations  25,000  25,000 
Education Committee  220,000  115,000 
Electricity  119,748  138,000 
Health & Safety  35,100  10,000 
Honorarium  312,500  275,000 
Laze & Lime  -  30,000 
LinCU  81,000  81,000 
Marketing  50,500  90,000 
Mortgage Facilitation  120,000  90,000 
Motor Vehicle  14,400  40,000 
Pantry  26,500  65,200 
Printing & Stationery  216,600  189,600 
Promotional  131,500  200,000 
Rebranding  250,000  - 
Recoveries  66,563  25,350 
Rental  100,596  97,600 
Repairs & Maintenance  364,371  300,700 
Security  340,000  325,000 
Sponsorship  70,000  47,000 
Sundry  26,740  81,050 
Telephone  162,000  155,000 
Tobago Villa  249,150  125,000 
Water & Sewerage  8,400  4,000 

$  3,572,007 $  3,200,000 
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CLICO Credit Union Co-Operative Society Limited
Projected Statement of Comprehensive Income

Projected
Schedules 2019 2018

Income:
Interest Income

Interest on Loans 40,449,125 36,300,000
Investment Income 1,147,934 1,219,600

$ 41,597,059 $ 37,519,600

Interest Expense
Members' Deposit Interest 1 (621,182) (550,000)

Net Interest Income $ 40,975,877 $ 36,969,600

Non Interest Income
Insurance Business Commissions 390,000 500,000
Loan Processing Fees 1,809,313 1,625,000
Membership Fees 5,000 2,000
Other Fee Income 725,000 796,400

Total Income $ 43,905,190 $ 39,893,000

Expenditure:
Administrative Costs 2 3,849,200 3,085,000
Insurance Costs 3 3,136,464 3,485,000
Expected Credit Loss 3,642,995 9,000,000
Personnel Costs 4 7,149,072 6,684,000
Operating Costs 5 3,572,007 6,684,000

Total Expenditure $ 21,349,738 $ 28,938,000

Total Comprehensive Income $ 22,555,452 $ 14,439,000
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CLICO Credit Union Co-Operative Society Limited
Capital Expenditure & Investments

Projected 2019
Information Technology:

On-Line Board of Directors Reporting Module  97,344 
ATM Machines  62,320 
Memory Upgrade and Disk on Servers and SAN  120,000 

Telephone System  85,058 
Sysmantec Endpoint Protection  4,000 
Firewall Device  16,400 
Projector  11,000 
Security Television  2,500 
Portable SSD  1,200 
Computer Vacuum  1,000 
Aurba Access Point  2,800 
Network Cable  1,000 
Surface Pro 4 Laptop/Tablets  39,600 
ID Scanner  5,000 
Topaz Signature Pad  6,000 
Printer  10,500 
Desktop Memory  3,800 
Computer Hard Drive  4,000 
Dell Computers  26,000 
IP Phones  6,500 
Miscellaneous  9,000 

$  515,022
Administration:

Building Repairs  180,000 
Training Room Refitting  109,378 
Guard Booth  60,000 
Back Staircase/Fire Exit  15,000 
Miscellaneous  30,000 

$  394,378
Internal Audit:

Currency Counter  42,075 
$  42,075 

Investments:
Investments  10,000,000 

$  10,000,000 
Total Capital Expenditure & Investments $  10,951,475
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Recommendations
of the Board of Directors

Dividend

• The Board of Directors recommend to the Annual General Meeting that a dividend at the rate of  5% is 
declared for the year 2018 and that such sums are credited to the Members’ accounts as requested by them. 

• It is recommended that if a member is delinquent in payment at the time of payment his/her entire dividend 
be placed on his/her loan account.

Appointment of Auditors 

It is recommended that the firm of Pannell Kerr Forster be retained as external Auditors of the Society for the year ending 
31st December 2019.

Honoraria

• It is recommended that an Honorarium be set at a percentage not exceeding 3% of the surplus after 
statutory deductions for payment to the Board of Directors and Committee Members for the year ending 
December 31st 2019.

 
• It is also recommended that Honoraria form part of a personal loan to members of Committees who do not 

attend Training Programmes for which costs have been incurred. 

Borrowing Power

Whereas it is necessary to borrow from time to time to meet the financial obligations of the Society, the Directors 
recommend that the Maximum Liability of the Credit Union, in respect of loans, be maintained at Fifty Five Million 
dollars ($55 million) in accordance with the Regulations of the Co-operative Society Limited and the Bye Laws of the 
Credit Union. 
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Nominees
Board of Directors

Darin Hunte - MBA, FLMI.

Darin currently holds the position of President of CLICO Credit Union Cooperative 
Society Ltd. and is a Senior Network Specialist at the Ministry of Housing and Urban 
Development. As President he has successfully guided the CCU over the last seven years 
ensuring its continued growth, stability, and profitability. Under his stewardship Total 
Assets have grown from $178 million dollars to $358 million dollars. He is a leader in 
driving technological change across organizations with over thirty (30) years experience 
managing and implementing successful IT business solutions in the financial and 
government sectors. Darin has served on the Board of Directors of CLICO Credit Union 
for the past twenty five (25) years during which he was instrumental in developing the 
Information Technology infrastructure of CCU. 
Darin is the holder of an MBA from Anglia Ruskin University, and an FLMI from the 
Life Office Management Association. He also serves on the Risk Management, IT, and 
Governance committees of CCU.

Henry Hamlett

Henry currently holds the position of Senior Manager, Group Health & Life at CLICO. 
Prior to this he held the post of Vice President, Operations at CLICO Barbados from 

2006-2009, and Vice President Strategy Implementation at CLICO Guyana from       
2001-2005. 

He is the proud holder of FLMI, ACS, AIAA, AIRC and AAPA designations from LOMA 
(Life Office Management Association of Atlanta, USA). 

He is a past Vice President of the LOMA Society of T&T, past Vice President of the 
CLICO Club, past President of Richmond Street Boys’ PTA and a past member of the 

Rotary Club of Demerara in Guyana, where he was the Sergeant-at-Arms. 

Henry first served as a Board Member of CCU for 9 years during the period 1991–2000. 
During this time he became a member of the Supervisory Committee of the North West 

Chapter of the League, and was exposed to many issues surrounding the credit union 
movement. He has also represented CLICO Credit Union overseas. 

He has just completed serving 6 years on the Board of Directors as well as Chairman of 
the Governance Committee. This Committee has been instrumental in assisting the Board 

with the implementation of a number of policies and committee charters geared towards 
for better governance of the credit union. Henry also served on the I.T. Committee. 

He is desirous of once again offering himself to serve on the Board.
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Ashraff A. Ali - Director, E.E.E.T.

Mr. Ashraff Ali presently holds the position of Executive Director/Chief Organization 
Officer for the second largest general insurer in Trinidad and Tobago, Director for 
a general insurer in the Turks and Caicos Islands, and Chairman for a real estate 
management company in Trinidad and Tobago.

During his career, Mr. Ali has gained tremendous experience in working with the Board 
of Directors and management team for the companies he represents, as well as regulators 
and auditors. He has been involved in negotiating contracts, compliance, business 
development and strategic planning. 

Additionally, Mr. Ali currently plays a critical and strategic role in the continuous 
development, growth and profitability of his current employers. His expertise allows him 
the ability to actively engage in innovative, strategic and robust business development 
initiatives, resulting in the creation of competitive advantages and sustainable growth 
through people development. 

His passion for Information Technology allows for a unique blend of intellectual business 
development that transcends and impacts the Modern Day Corporation. 

Marcus G.D Girdharie R.C.F, LUTCF 

Marcus has a very extensive career in the financial services sector. After 7 years in the 
banking industry he approached the insurance industry in 1999 to become a financial 

advisor. In his very first year, he qualified to become a member of the MDRT. He later 
became the youngest appointed branch manager of CLICO (Siparia Agency) and a top 

producer.  His elevation extended beyond T&T as he was elected country chair of T&T by 
the MDRT and then further promoted to Caribbean chair for the MDRT. He is now a life 
member. He established his own company in 2000 and is the owner of an Online Agency 

for COLFIRE where he is also a member of their Championship Club.

His decorative past includes positions of service such as: past President of the T&T 
Association of Insurance and Financial Advisor South Chapter as the Ethics chairperson 

of its national association, moderator of the American College LUTCF program, member 
to the Board of San Fernando Anglican ECCE and the Open Bible Church of Marabella. 
He is presently the V.P. of the St Joseph Village Residents Association and the President 
of Naparima College Association of Past Students and an Executive member of the Carl 

Osborne Val Turton Foundation.
Marcus served on the Investment Committee for the period 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 and 

is desirous of serving on the Board of Directors. 
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Leslie A. Nelson FCMA, CGMA, CA, MBA, FLMI

A Chartered Accountant, a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants 
of the United Kingdom, a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Trinidad 
and Tobago (ICATT) and a Chartered Global Management Accountant, Mr. Leslie Nelson 
is the holder of a Master of Business Administration (MBA, Finance) from The University 
of Reading, Henley Management School of Business in London, England and a Fellow 
of the Life Office Management Institute (Managerial Accounting) from Atlanta, USA. He 
has completed professional certificates in Effective Corporate Governance and in Public 
Relations. In addition to his academic prowess, Leslie has attended numerous seminars 
and conferences as part of his quest for continuous professional development.  
His experience in the financial services industry spans twenty years with over ten years at 
Executive Management level. Leslie has worked as Assistant General Manager Finance 
and Administration for seven years with a multinational insurance company and he has 
acquired many years international experience working in Toronto, Canada which has 
provided a global perspective on finance, organizational change management strategies 
and client relationship management. His last position in Canada was that of Accounting 
Manager with the Destiny Group of Companies in Toronto. He is currently employed in 
mortgage banking as Chief Executive Officer and Corporate Secretary of The Trinidad 
Building and Loan Association. 

Leslie is a Past President of the San Juan Lions club and Past Zone Chairman of Lions 
International having held this position both in Trinidad and in Toronto. He has received 
numerous awards for distinguished community service including the Melvin Jones 
Fellowship from Lions International in recognition of his commitment to humanitarian 
work.

Leslie has also served as a member of the council of ICATT as well as State and Private 
Sector Boards and Chaired committees including Finance and Audit. He is a past member 
of ICATT and has served Vice President and as Chairman of the Disciplinary Committee.

Colleen Holder

Colleen is an award-winning journalist and former radio and television news producer and 
presenter who has been an active member of CLICO Credit Union for the past 11 years. 

She began her media career as a reporter 20 years ago at Radio 97. She subsequently 
headed the newsroom of Tobago Channel 5 and moved on to TV6 and CNMG as a news 
producer/presenter. She holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Mass Communications and a 

Diploma in Theology.

She currently holds the post of Director, Corporate Communication and Production at the 
Office of the Parliament. 

Colleen served as an Alternate Director of the Board for the period 2018-2019 and is 
desirous of offering herself for service again.
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Nominees
Supervisory Committee

Jean-Marc Griffith

Jean-Marc Griffith is currently employed with the T&T Coast Guard where he’s been 
enlisted for the past eight years. 

Jean-Marc previously served on the Supervisory Committee as secretary for the period 
2018-2019.  In 2018 he further expanded his knowledge on the responsibilities of the 
Supervisory Committee having successfully completed the Internal Audit workshop 

conducted by the Co-operative Credit Union League of Trinidad and Tobago. 

He is most keen towards utilizing new technologies within the Credit Union; in a manner 
which improves the speed and efficiency of the Member’s experience while meeting their 

ever changing financial needs. 

As a member of CCU for the past 6 years and having witnessed the positive changes the 
Credit Union has made in the lives of its members, Jean-Marc is desirous of offering 

himself for service once again on this committee.  

He believes his high level of professionalism and experience will enable him to continue 
adding value to the Credit Union and it’s members. 

Makini Cuffie
Makini brings over 11 years of experience in the audit and accounting industry; she is 
currently employed at COLFIRE in this field. Prior to working at COLFIRE she held 
accounting positions at Consolidated Insurance Consultants Limited and Price Waterhouse 
Coopers. 
A past student of St. George’s College, Makini continues to pursue academia. She is 
currently pursuing the Professional Level of ACCA accreditation.
A member of the Credit Union for the past 6 years, Makini has served on the Education 
Committee for the past three years. She is desirous of offering her service on the 
Supervisory Committee.
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Darlene Chapman

Darlene has worked in the Insurance industry for over 21 years. She currently holds the 
position of  Internal Auditor at COLFIRE for over 12 years. Prior to this she worked in the 
Finance Department. 

A member of the Credit Union for over 27 years Darlene has served as the Link Officer 
for COLFIRE where she is committed to serving the membership to best of her ability, 
always seeking their interest and ensuring that their needs are met and the Credit Union 
rules are adhered too with due diligence.

Darlene has a strong desire to bring her experience and commitment to the Credit Union. 
She served on the Supervisory Committee for the period 2017-2018 and as Chair of 
the Supervisory Committee for the period 2018-2019. She is offering herself again for 
service.

Ako Okera Bridgeman

Ako has served in the Trinidad & Tobago Defence Force for over 15 years gaining 
experience through various administrative, analytical and managerial functions. He is the 
holder of a Masters Degree in Business Administration- General Management, Bachelor 
Degree in Business Administration- Human Resource Management, Diploma -Security 
and Administration Management.  He is a trained Intelligence Analyst. Ako has been a 
member of the Credit Union for the past 12 years. He served on the Risk Management 

Committee for the period 2017-2018 and the Supervisory Committee for the period 2018-
2019 and he desirous of offering himself for service again.  

Roddan Davis

Roddan has served in the Trinidad & Tobago Defence Force for over 12 years and has 
been a member of the Credit Union for the past 12 years. Roddan is currently employed as 
a Payroll Officer and has held this position for the last 8 years. A member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Trinidad & Tobago (ICATT), Roddan is currently a level 2 
FIA/ACCA student. 

An avid cricket fan, he is a certified West Indies Cricket Umpire (WICU) and a member 
of the Trinidad & Tobago Cricket Umpires Scorers Association (TTCUSA). He currently 
serves on the national panel of Umpires. 

Roddan is confident that his wealth of knowledge in finance and service renders him 
worth of service to the credit union. He is offering himself for service on the Supervisory 
Committee.  
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Nominees
Credit Committee

Abena St. Louis 

Abena has devoted over eleven (11) years of service to the CLICO Credit Union as a 
Link Officer and is currently an out-going member of the Credit Committee in which she 

served for eight (8) years.

Abena is one of CLICO’s formidable Customer Service Representative who is very 
proficient at customer care management and is very passionate about her service delivery 

to all the customers with whom she interacts with internally and externally. Because 
of Abena’s vast knowledge base, experience and passion for the delivery of excellent 

service, she has been openly appreciated and recognized as an asset to her employer (the 
CLICO Organization) and is always in high demand by their customers.

Abena lives by her motto “Service is the price we pay for the space we occupy on this 
earth” and is once again offering herself on this year’s Credit Committee.

Carmen Iles (Cert CII) 

After completing secondary school, Carmen worked as an office assistant for an insurance 
agent. Her love for the insurance business persuaded her to make it her career. She worked 
as an agent for CLICO for 20 years and is currently an agent for Colfire for the past 27 
years.

Carmen’s motto is helping others find a healthy financial balance in their lives. She admits 
that no single approach is right for every individual and so, she engaged herself in a range 
of financial training which includes Certified Financial Planning and taxation, to assist her 
clients. 

Carmen believes in giving back freely to society and thus she engaged herself in several 
mentorship programs such as Junior Achievement, Dale Carnegie and Youth Training 
Centre, to name a few. 

She served on the credit committee for the last two years and is pleased to offer her 
services again.

Her hobbies are travelling with the aim of experiencing different cultures and reading 
motivational books.
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Nadine Carrington 

Nadine Carrington has over 21 years’ experience working through the ranks to have a 
holistic appreciation of the financial industry.  She is presently attached to the Billings and 
Collections Department at CLICO.

Nadine spends her free time by volunteering her services as evidence by her time served 
on the Credit Committee of the CLICO Credit Union for the past two years as well as her 
work in education as an Adult Literacy Tutor.

Nadine is an out-going member of the Credit Committee and she is once again offering 
herself for service on this Committee.

Sean Alleyne

Sean has over 18 years’ multi-disciplinary service in the Trinidad and Tobago Coast 
Guard’s administrative arm and is recognized for communicating and delivering strategies 

with optimal results. He prides his skills in resource planning, communications, problem 
solving, strategic team-building and customer service.

He is the holders of a BA from the University of Southerland and a Master of Business 
Administration from Anglia Ruskin University.  

A member of the Credit Union since 2001 Sean wishes, Sean served on the Credit 
Committee for the period 2018-2019 and is again desirous of bringing his wealth of 

experience and service to the Credit Union.  

Rachel Hope

Rachel has been a member of the CLICO family and by extension the CLICO Credit 
Union since 1992. She has been an integral member of the Marketing and Corporate 
Communications Department, assisting with the successful execution of all CLICO’s 
Events.   Rachel prides herself on her professionalism and willingly shares her knowledge 
and skills with others.  Her expertise and talents have been utilized throughout CLICO 
and over the years the CLICO Credit Union has benefitted from her quiet and consistent 
support when called upon to serve.  

Rachel holds a BA (Hons) in Business Administration.

She served on the Credit Committee for the period 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 and is 
seeking re-election.
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Cindy Emamdie

Cindy has delivered superior quality service at COLFIRE for the past 24 years. 

She has also been a member of the Credit Union for the past 24 years and is certain that 
her multitude of skills and expertise will add value to the Credit Union. 

Cindy served on the Audit & Compliance Committee for the period 2017-2019 and is 
offering herself for service on the Credit Committee.

Chesterfield Sealey

Chesterfield has been a member of CLICO Credit Union for the past seven years. He is a 
Finance Specialist at COLFIRE and is currently pursuing Level 3 ACCA.

With over fifteen years of experience in Finance, Chester will bring a wealth of 
knowledge and expertise to the Credit Committee.
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